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CHAPTERT

THE JOURNEY WSST BEGINS

Amhng the three thousand adventurcus ploneers who hesaded
weatward from Missouri In the spring of 18,5 to settle 1in the
Oregnn Country wers séveral people whose coming was to mean
mich to the clty of Zugene and to Lane County.

The story of those hardy emigrants and thelr journey
across the plainsg to Fort Hall, scuthwest from there over the
deserts and mountéins to Sutter's Fort in Callfornis, and
north from Celifornia to the Willamette Valley iz a thrilling
one to those of us who live here todsy in the vicinity in
which they settled.

In that group were Zugene Skinner, who founded our ecity
in 18L6; his #ife,‘Mafy, who gave the city its name; Elijsh

Bristow, to whom goes the honor of being the first settler in

- Lane County; and two other young men, Yilliam Dcdsgon and Fellx

I =

lectt, Jr., who becams Yr. Zristow's nelighbors.

{5

Eugene Franklia Sklnner, who was born in Essex, New York,
in 1809, was a well-known férmer in Putnam County, Illlnois,
;n the year 18L5. He had rsceived a goocd educaticn, especially
in the rield of law, and had at various times been elected to

politlcal offices. In 1839 he married Mary Cook, and they
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. {1
had three daughtsrs, sll of whom iled in Illinois.’l} zugene

suffersd from poor health. As he and Mary heard mcre &and more

about the wonderful climate in the far West end the possi-

bility of getting six hundred forty acres of fres land thsre
they made up thelr minds to go west to settle. They hcped to
gein bettar health and free farm land as well.

¥any other people, both from the East and the Middle West,
were Interested in emigrating to the Oregon Country 1in the
18L,0*s. There were many reasons for thils Interest. Hany
frontiersmen, like Elijsh Bristow of Virginia,(z) enjoyed
pionesering and iooked forward to the adventures of the Journey
to ths new frontier. Farmsrs were sear;hing for rich farm
lands nearer the coast where they might have better chances
to ralse and market more plentiful crops than they had in the
Middle West. They had Just come through s depression period(B)
in which they hed lost most of their money in farming. Some
people, likaiMr. Skinner, came in search of a mere healthful

climate. Among sll those who came there were scme who reallzed

that they were helping to win the Oragon Ccuntry for the United

(1)Eug§ne dorning Register, Anniversary tditlon. (Euzene, Gregon:
Gilstrep Brothers, 1%0L), p. 1.

Illustrated Hlstory of Len® Ceounty {2ortlend,

(2) ;. C. Walling,
Oregon: the au%hor, 13000 T, pe Jlile

(3)3311, James C., "Opening a Highway to the Paeiflc, 1333-
16", Studles in History, Hconomics and Public Law, edited by
Faculty of Polltlcal Science of Columbla Univeraity, vol. $5
(New York: Longmans, Green and Co., agents, 1921}, p. 1l85.
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Stetes simply by settling in that far-off territcry.(

in the basls of explorations which British and American
explorers had carried on, Great Britsin and the United Stetes
both claimed the ﬁrea which 1s now Orsegon and Weshington, and
the two nations had agreed in 1318 that people from both

Enzlend and the United States might settle there unkil a

becundary dividing their claims hed been agreed upen. This

cispute had nct been settled when the Skinners and Bristcw

began their journey in 18L5S. Until 1t was settled the Unilted

States government could not glve legel rights to the free

land which the emizrents wers expecting tec get, but through
the Provisicnal government, whlch had been organized in Oregon

by the eariiest settlers, cn their own, in 18L3, there was a

chance to c¢laim free lgnd end hold 1t until a Donation Land

Law could be passed by the natlonal government. (This was dene

in 1850, after the boundary dispute was settled in June, 18L6.)

Whatever the reasons may have been, the splirit of "On to

Oregon" spread throughout the Hiddle %est, as well as In the

Zast, and ceravans gathered at Indecendence, at Yestport Land-

* %1 ssourd

St. Josephi),

Q
n

ing (letsr Zaensas City), &ndé 3t. "J
in the spring of 1845, as caravans had been doing svery spring

for thrse or four ysars, resdy to start to Orezon when there

was greass enough for the cattle.

Caxton

(I)Melvin Clay Jacobs, Winning Oregon (Caldwell, Idszho:
Printers, Ltd., 1938), p. &5.
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Wny did these villages beccme the starting places fer the
great westward migrations? They wers on or near the Missouril
River, end, since many emlgrants from the Zaest traveled as
far as they could on the Ohlo, the ¥Mlississippl, and the Missouri
Rivérs, these cutposts of eivilization became the logical meet-
ing placses for the relatives and friends who were planning to
go Vest together. Independsnce had alrsady become noted as
the froantier trading headquarters for the Santa Fe Trall.

The first Oregon tralins followed the old Ssnta Fe Trail as far
as they c¢ould, rather than make a new trail, but later eml-
grants found that they could save zbout four days' travel by
ox team, by starting from St. Jo, which was up-river and

seventy miles farther west than Independence. There was one

(X3

serious drawback against St. Jo as a starting-point the
¥issouri had to be crosssed, end crossing any river, especially
a wlde, treacherous one like the ¥issouri, meant troudble and
dangar.(l)

There were usually seversl wagons in & train. Fach famlly
might have two or three wagons, loaded with provisicns and
sﬁpylies. Sometlmes two or three tralns would be travzsling
within sight of each other, each train having 1ts own csptain.

Whether they traveled falrly close together or not depended

partly upcn the presence of Indians nearby, upon the amount

(L rrene Paden, The Warte of the Pralrie 2chooner (New York:
decMillan Co., 15L7), ». 2-4 54-
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or scarcity of gress for the stock and water for the whole
compeny, upen the ccnditian of the trsil, or even, sometimes,
upon whether the leaders snd mexrbers of the caravens could
get aleongz well wilith each cther!

The majority of ths emigrants wers good pecple--nard
workers, honest, nelighnberly, snd kind--belleving in the Golden
Rule end living by it. But, a&s in any large group of peonle,
there were some undeslrsble characters smong them--lazy men
end women, people with violent tempers and hateful disposi—
tlons, and, occaslonally, fugitives from justlce. Thess

people who were pecor managers and who had not brought encocugh

‘G

[es
o

supplies and those who were sickly were a source of ccntinuel

-~

1
i

L

worry to the more conseientious members of the tralins.

In meny ways the first few trzins that ceme over the
California-Oregon Trall were the lucklest. There was plenty
of grass and fuel avallable., The emigrants had planned

thelr supplies carefully and well, for the most part. A
(2)

3

rail Guide book was avallable. Cholers, the dreaded
sickness which afflicted the trains in 13L:9 and in the 1850's,
hed no%t yst mede 1tz appearance. The ncovelty of the trip in

itself helped keep up the morale of the travelsrs, and, too,

-

(L)Sarah Hunt Steeves, Zook of Remembrances of Yarian Cosunty,

Oregon Ploneers, 18L0-1330 (Portlend, Oregon: tne suthor,
Iﬁ?sf, prefsace.

(2)5- W. Hastings, Ths Zmicrant's Culde to Oregon end Callif-
ornia (Princeton, Yew Jer:z;: pPrinceton University Prsss, 1932).




they realized that they were not alone, but & part of a2 mightiy
fiood of settlers on the move. The plains Indians, who took
it for grented that if & murderer were caught another person
in his group or tribe had to be given up for puni;hment by
death, hadn't yet had serious csuse to start claiming hostagses,
end were either curious, indifferent, or timid. The first
trains started out early enough in the year so that they had
good weather for travsling and didn't have to race sc hard

againgt time and bad westher as did leter caravans.




it

Lagand:

- —— P &

Indapandence, Niswonyi
Aleove Gpring

"ok lardwmori s

M. Loromie
Indepeidenca fock
south fweoe

7T M. Dridear : i

g . Eol11l ; s v L | T
Y dubter's Torg
1038rganae

Oreson dreil '
——————— _ .

swwse=ee Shinner'e route Lo Sugtarte
Cor b Crasen '

REN_ N AS e s




CHAPTER II =

THE OREGON TRAIL T2 FORT HALL AND

THE LANDMARXS ALONG THD WAY

The Skinners and Z1ijah Bristow kept no available record

of thelr travels,{li but by 1845 the route had been travelsd
encugh that we may be reasonably sure cf its course. When
the landmerks sre mentioned we shall refer to them &s they

(2)

30.

i

arosear NOwW a

b.

The Trzil led from Independence, HMlssouril, west and north-
west to the South Platte Rivsr (in Nebraska), then to ths
North Platte, to Ft. Leramie (in Wyoming), southwest to

South Pass and Green Hiver, anc north to Ft. Hall {in Ideho},

-where the Skinners and Bristow separated from the main Oregon-

bound ceravan end weat to California. - [
~ The T;ail was not & new one. It ha& develpped‘in ages

pest. In the course <f thair travels acroéé the plains

through the cenfuries roving bands cf Indlans and buffsloes

had treced falnt trails along creeks and rivers, from the

1

& Skinners sndé Brlstow azg fsllow-2n
en by e relative of Felix Scott, Jr
n.

‘liyontion 13 msde of th
t
member of the skinner-Bristow trzl

granta in sccounts wri
and by B. ¥. Bonney, &

3 -
-

L
t

(2)ohe writer visited most of the lsndmaris mentloned ia Aug-
ust, 1%.9. Other sources of raferencs are listed in the bib-
llcgraohy.




frontisr to the Roekiles.

These tralls wers convenient for the American fur trappers
end traders (the Mountain Men) to follow on their way from the
Mlssourl to the mountains. The pack tralins sent out by the
fur companies to the summer rendezvous marked the trails more
distinetly as they plodded westward toward the mountains,
loaded with supplies, and homeward with the winter's fur har-
vegt. In the 1830's the companies began using wagons for
hauling supplies, after Captain Bonneville had succeeded in
taking e wagon treln through in 1832, and soon there was a
mgkeshift rocad as far as the Gresen River in Wyoming.

The first white men ¥nown to have traveled the length
and the general route of what later became the Oregon Trell
started from the western coast et Astoria. They were a few
members of Astor's fur-trading company on their way back to
the States in 1812—13-(1)

A few misslonaries traveled to the Oregon country with
fur-trading parties in those early days. Dr. Mercus Whitman

end Reverend Henry Spalding took thelr wivea with them, and

these two women were the first white women to cross the Rockies.

Thelr success encouraged other women to attempt the long

journey.

(l)Paden, op. elt. p. 325.




Adventurous plonesrs bsgan heading west by way of the
overland treil by 18L0, using, oxen, horsss, wagons, and carts.
In the Great Mlgrstion of 1843, guided by ¥ercus Wnitman,
about one thousand emigrants crossed the plains and the Rockies
on the now well-defined Oregon Trsil.

Thus, by 1845, when the Skinners, Bristow, snd others of
the Eugene group began thelr long slow trip to thelr new
homes they were not unsware of the route they were to travel
or the dangers and difficulties they might face on the Trail,
but they were undaunted snd set cut with high courage and
determination.

Their startling place, Independence, Migsourl, well xnown
then as a froﬁtier trading headquarters and now notable
especially as the home of Harry S. Truman, grew up around a
apring of good cold water. The deserted-looking spring may
still be seen on a back street near the city's electric plant.

A great number of emligrants reached Independence by weay
of steamboats on the ¥Mlissouri. Ths landing place, known as

Weyne Clty or Independence Landing, was gvout five miles from

Yol

the village itself. One may vislt the peaceful site todsy,

<,

{

but only by & vigorous stretch of the imagination can one
picture the hustle and bustle it enjoyed in 1ts hey-day--the
scramble of unloading--the hurrylng passengers, bulky wagons,
skittish horses, slow-moving oxen, enormous amounts of supplies

and frelight--all destined to move steadlly westward, to




California or %o Oregon.

In the village were to be seen blacksmith shops, saloons,
rooming-houses, & mule-market, the village squere surrounding
a log courthouse, muddy (or dusty) ;é;éets, covered'wagons,
freight wasgons, mules, oxen, horses, Iﬁdians, and hundreds
of busy travelers.

On the outskirts of the town the emigrants formed thelir
wagon tralns and walted impatiently for the go-ghead signal.

The old log courthouse, which became the village's first
schoolhouse, has long since been replaced by other courthouse
buildings and has been moved to a different location in the
0ld part of the town (on M¥aln and Kansas streets).

Most Oregon-bound wagon trains left Independence by way
of the southern branch of the Santa Fe Trall, which thay
followed for forty mlles, before branching off to the north-
west.

One of the last signs of civilizstlon the emigrents saw
before reaching the praliries was the Shawnee Mlisslon, twenty
miles west of Independence. B3ullt by the Methodiats in 1839,
the first brick bullcing served as a school for Indlan boys
and girls. Attendance grew rapldly; another bullding was
arected in 18411, and by 18L5 one hundred thirty-seven puplls
wers enrolled. A third bullding was built in 1845. These
threse bulldings are now preserved as historic landmarks, the

first one serving as a museunm.
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Trees were go scarce along the Trail in thai section
that one, known as ths Lone Elm, which stood near a cresek
thirty-four miles from Independence, served as aéléndmark
and rendezvous for meny years, until the gold rush days, when
1t finelly dissppeared from ths landscape.

The road from Westport (Xansas City) jolned the Inde-
pendence road near the present town of Gardner, Kansas, forty
milesg cut on the way, and here the Orsgon Trsil lad cff’to
the northwest while the Zanta Te Trail went southwest. On the
schoolgrounds stands a monument which marks the genersl lcca-

" at one time

tion of the forks. A crude sgign "Road to Orsgon
pointed the way for the emigrants.

Within ths next forty miles or so when‘they reached
Papla's ferry (Topeka) crossing the Xansas River, the itravelers,
having had several days' experience on the Trail,
their‘plans, checked their equipment, chose their captalns,
1f they had ncot already done so, snd got their caravans better
Qrganized for the long Jcurney shead.

The Trsll stayed close to creeks or rivers wherever pos-
sible. Hear Marysville, Xansas, at the ford cver the Big Blue
Flver known as Independence Crossing, there was a comfortable
camping spot, popular with the emigrants. Shade aend firewood
wers plentiful in the grovs of treesvby the river, and A spring

beside a small creek nearby furnished gocd cold water. This

landmaric, belng off the modern highway a few mlles, 1s now
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seldom visited. In thia gquist sscluced spot, so 1llttle changed
since the covered-wagon deys, one has the feellng cf belng very
close to the past. The Traill wcund over ths rolling prairie
land to the spring by the ersesekx &nd docwn among thé trees to

the river bank. The creek, which drles up by the end cf sum-
mer, earlier in the yesr pours over a semicirculer ledge of
rocks near the spring forming a waterfall. An emigrant in

the Zonner party of 1846 carved the fitting name of "Alcovs

? on one of the rocks forming part of the ledge, but

Spring
the preceess of ercsion has caused this section of the ledge

to fall face-down intc *the e¢r=si bed a few feet below, soc that
the name cannot be seen. Jther travelers carved their names
or initlals on other boulders snd tho2se mey easlly be seen.
The spring still provides coel refreshning water. The ruts

of the Trail show plsainly on the sidehill and 1n the camping
spot a few hundred;feet to the west on the river bank.

The Trail led northwest from the Blg Blue through the
Little Blue Vallsy to the Platte Fiver in Nebraske, whers the
emigrants got their first view of the "coast of Yebraska' with
its sandstone bluffz and rocks. It was in thils area that the
early wagon trelilns met up with enormous herds of buffaloes.
The buffaiﬁ was of great value to the emigrants, furnishing

megt, hides, and fuel in the form of "buffale chips”, or

"prairie coal",(l} a3 the dried menure was called. JIn the

{ .
’1)Clifford 4. Drury, Tlkanah and ¥ary Talker (Caldwell, Idszhosz
Caxton Printera, Ltd., 13L0Y, p. 83.
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plains whers thers was nc other fuel to be had, "buffalo chins”
filled a definite need. OInre pioneer wrote that a bushel »f
chips could be gathersd in one minute, and thst it took thrse
bushels to make & good fire.(l) |

In the reglon along the Platte Rilvsr, known as Pawnee
territory, the emigrants frequently met bands of Pawnee and
Sioux Indians who were often on the warpath sgainst each other.
In leter yeers the Indians fought the whites too, but at flrst
they were usually friendly.

Storms, atampedes, end river crossings were the main
dengers faced by the travelsrs in the early 18L0's.

When the foriks of the Platte were rsachedkthe wagen treains
turned left for a few miles, along the Scuth Platts, near the
present town of Brule, Nebrsaska, snd over the first of many
famcus natural lendmarks south of the Platte, the sandstone
formation known ss CG'Fallon's Bluffs. The wide, shallow ford
at the forks became known as the lower Cszlifornia crossing.

It wes an extremely dangerous one, with 1ts swift, muddy water,
quicksands, desp holes, sand bars, snd 1ts custom of fleooding
unexpactedly.

From thls erossing the wagons headed northward toward
the ¥orth Platte Vallsey over rolling hills to Ash Hollow, near

2

the river, where the trsil led over the smcoth top of th

»

!

(1)T. J. Geer, Fifty Years ig Qrezcn {ew York: The Nesle
Publishing Company, 1912), p. 135.

T




or

luffs down 2 long, falrly atess slope into the peaceful

=

hcllow below. Here wes %o be found a level, grasay eamding
spot with a few scrubby ash trses, encircled by,blgffs cn
three sldes. The modern highway goes through the Hollow and
in a few hundred feet reaches ths bridgs, crossing to the
north vank of the North Platte.

The hill over which the wagcns went down into Ash Hollow
was sometimes spoken of as "Windlass Hill." This was the
steepest slope the travelers had found so fary; and thelr ususl
method of just chailning the wheels (since they had no brakes
to ¥eep the wagons from running over the oxen) wss obvicusly
not sultable on such a steep nlace. They didn't want to take
the time to dig a roasd. Ingtead they made a windlass oYy
fastening a wagon to the ground on the hilltop, with the wheels
left free to turn, then they tied one end of a rops to the axlie
of that wagon eand the other end to snother wagon with a team 1n
front which weas to be let down the hill. The men held back on
the wheels of the top wagon as the axle turnsd and thet let
the wagon down slowly and safelﬁ, unless the rope broke. The
windlass wagon had the most dsngerous ride!él}

At the foot of the hill stand the rulns of a little stone
cabin dating back to ecarly days. A still earlier cabin had

served as & Trall "post office."™ DBetwsen the Hollow sand the

(1)Paden, on. cit., »p. 120-1.

D e
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river on the west 1s an old Trall cemetery.

&

The Jjourney slong the North Platte was fairly comfortsbl
and pleasant.  The Trail ran over;gglling land be?ween the
bluffa and the river for about fifty miles, passing five
separste outstanding "rock” landmarks which were st one time
ell pert of the ariginal bluff formation.

The flirst of these is Courthouse Roek which, with 1ts
nelighbor, Jall Rock, looms up commandingly frcm the valley
floor a few miles south of the town of Bridgeport. Due to
the cleesrness of the alr the Rocks dldn't lock to be far away
from the Trall bubt ths distance wss about twelve miles, as
intarested travelers found who went to have & c¢loser loock at
these unusual objects. C(ourthouse Rock 1s about one thousand
feet across et its base and about four hundred feet high, and
was so named by an early traveler becsuse of its resemblance,
from s distance, to & courthouse bullding with a dome on top..
The smaller rock standing close to the sast slde of the "court-
house® was fittingly named Jsil Rock, since in those days
courthouses and jails wers usually placed nesar each cther in
towns, even ag fugene's are ncw. One traveler called the

smaller rock the "Clerk's Office.“(l)

From Courthouse Rock can be seen Chimney Rock, fiftesn

miles or so further along the river, across from Beysard,

?

(1)"Uncle Sem" Handsaker, Ploneer Life (Eugene, Oregon: the
suthor, 1908), p. 58. A
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Nebraska. The Trsil went slong the higher land nesr tha 2ot
of the bluffs to avold the marshy land nesar the river and
passed e¢lose by the tall limestone shaft or ceore known as
Chimney Rock, which once rose two hundred fifty feet or more
Into the slr. Now the column rises only about fifty feset
above itas econs-shaped base, due to erscsion, lightning, or
perhaps to terget practice by a company of socldlers passing
through, as locsl people say. |

The bluffs along the North Platte were sometimes called
the Wildcat Hills. Castle Rock was another off-shoot from
these hills which attracted the interest of the travelers.

The last of the North Platts's famocus nafural landmarks
was Scottls Bluff, on up the river about twenty mlles from
Chimney Rock.' This bluff, eight hundred feet high, is simply
the eastern edge of the hills whicech reech the river at this
spot. The name 3Scott's Bluff was glven to this place because
of a sad incident. According to an old story dating back to
fur-trading timss, a treoper named Hiram Scott, returning
from the mountains, became 111 as he was headling east with a
grcup of trappers, and twc of his companions stayed behind
wlth the sick man, planning to take him down the river in a
beat and to re-joln their grcup at the sasily rsceognized land-
mark. The good intentions of the men did not last long. Thelr
boat was qucked and becsuse they dld not want to bother any

longer with the sick man they left him and went on, meetling




thelr frisnds at the vluff. They %cld them that Scott had

died, but instead the sick man somshow made his way palnfully
anc desperatzly to the bluff, covgring a dilstance of sixty
miles. By the time he reached thére the others ﬁad of course
gone one, and with them hisg only chance for help. He disd
by the slde of a spring in a spot now marked by a memorisl
stone. Hls tragic story became known the next summer when
his bones and some of hls belonglngs were discovered by other
trappers.<l}

The Treil, for the serilest migrastions, led thrcugh
Robidoux Pass {or Canyon) in the hills arcund the bsck side
of Scott's Bluff (west of Gering) and dcwn %o river levsl
again. Later mlgrations used ¥itehell's Psss, en easier one,
nearer tihe rivar.

At the forks of the Laremle and the North Platte rivers
the emlgrents, having travelsd steadily for about six hundred
seventy miles iIn two month'g time enjoyed thankfully the
hospitality of the American Fur Company's trading post, Ft.
Laramie. This post and Ft. Hall, which were of sc much value
in furnishing supplies and orctection to the emigrents, were
bullt as a result of an interesting eircumstance.(2) In 1332

Nathenlel Yysth, & young inezperlenced "Boston" (american)

(1)P&d@n, %o Cit., pp0 114.7"8-
(2)1p14., p. 152.
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trader led & fur-trading expeditlion scrcss the Rocities to the
Pacific and back, but falled to make any profit from the trip.
On the return trip ezst he made an sgresment with a fur company
that he wculd come back to Green Rlver in wyominé’the next
summer with a pack trzin of supplies for trading.

The next summer he started cut to keep his bargszin, but
some other msn who knew about the plan {(one of them was the
brother of the man who had made the agreement with Wyeth)
started out, teco, also with supplies to trade. They got ahead

of Wyeth on the way and one of them {Campbell) set up a crude

133

3

radin:

{3

post gt the Laremle river forks to trade with the
Sloux Indians, while the other {Willlam Sublette} went on to
Green River, arrliving aheed of Wyeth and besating him to the
traders' buslness.

Thls of course made Wyeth angry and he went on to the
Snakes River valley {(in Idaho) where he set up & trading post
of his own, naming it Fort Hall. (We shall hear about this
fort agaln later in the journey.)

Later, in 1819, the United 3States bought Ft. Laramle fronm
g

the American Fur Compsny and msde it a military fort %o furnish
protéction to emlgrants passing through that reglon. In 1936
the zovernment began restoring 1t as & natlonsl monument. It
1s & worthwhile spot to visit, in its besutiful setting on

the uplends by the banks of the Larsmle. One rare ralie which
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may be seen there is a roadameter,(l) nregsentad to the museun
there by the Hormons in rscsnt years. 1t is a copy of the
wooden device invented by & Mormon in 18L7 to be sttached %o
the rear wheel of a wegon to measure the distance traveled in
thevcourss cf & dey. /

#¥hen the wagon treln left Ft. Laramie the Laramie River
lay in their path on the south side of the Yorth Platte end
had tec be forded. From then on the Trsil led for one hundred
twenty miles or so through the Black Hills, as the mountsains

(2}

near Ft. Laramie were celled, where the going was quite

cifficult. Laramie Peg%, the first real pesk the travelers
had seéen, served as & landmark on the southwest. There werse
many creeks in thié area znd gocd water, fuel and feed for the
stock were plentiful., The Trall crossed the Horth Platte for
the last time south of the present city of Casper, Wyoming.

For the next fifty miles, through barren desert-like
country, the emigrants were bothered with heat and alkell--
irritating alkali dust and polsonous alkzll water. This mads
the pleasant camping spot at Independerice Focik on ths bank of
the Sweetwater Rlver seem espaclally enjcyebla. Here they

stock before eross-

3

could rest and refresh themselves and thel

ing the river.

(I)Andrew Jenson, The Historle 0ld Record, Vol. 9 (Salt Lake
City, Utah, 1890), p. 22, p. 36.

(2)

Peden, op. eit., p. 1E8.
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Independence, Klssourl, was the most famous Trell Iandzeri of

all. All the meln tralls ceme together at this Rock, and to

the trasvelers 1t becazine k¥nown as the Great Reglster of the
Desert. It served as a bulletin-board for nemes of pssssras-

by, as well es messages to friends or relatives coming behind.
The Rock 13 a large roundad mass of gray granite, about one
hundred feet high, snd almost a mile arcund. It looiks like
an snormous lump of modeling clay shaped to resembls a huzh
animal lying down, or as another person describes 1t bettsr:

"It looks very much lie a glant haystack in the midat of a

vest risla."(1) Ita sides sre falrly smooth, with cracks here

end thers, and show clearly the pclishing effect of the great

glacler which must have covered it at one time. The name was

glven it by American Fur GCompany trappers who spent Indspendence

Day there in 1830. There 13 a wire fencs aleng in front of
the section where most of tha names were carved to ksep 1t
from belng damaged. Jot many of the names can be read now.
Most of them were not carved In deeply but were paintsed 2n
with axls grease or other mixtures.

One young girl, who came to Oregon 1n 1854, told of find-
ing a curlosity on the summlt of Independencs Tock: Min emi-

grant wagon, the owner teing busily engaged In meklng and

1
( )ﬂalter Meachsam, Tha‘01d Oregon Trail (Yanchester, N.H.:
The Clarke Press, 19L8), p. LO.
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disposing of, to the weary emigrants, dried apple pies, a rare
treat, no doubt. This ﬁas the most elevated pie ecounter! of -
ﬁny at that time from the Missouri River to Portland, end just
how the wagon reached the apex of the rock 1s known best by
those who placed 1t there." (1)

The Swestwater 1s a narrow stresm of clear cool water

‘and, so the story goes, got 1ts name from the fact that a

-trader in the early days lost all nis suger in the river as

he was‘croasing.(z)

From the Rock can be seen, five miles or so in the dis-
tance, to thavright of the"Tréil;:énother'easily fecdgnized
natural landmark--Devil's Gate (or Gap). 'Through this narrow
steep-walled gap, hOb feot high, a quarter of a mile long, and
100 feet wide, the usually peaceful river makes & noisy and
violent crossing of the Sweetwater Range (or the Granite
Range, as 1t was sometimes called). The Trail led through &
low pess to the west of this Gap. |

Traveling at an elevation of six thousand feet the wagon

trains were now beginning to climb the barelj noticeable up-

hill slope of the Rockies. Behind them lay the Sweetwater
Range, with Split Rock showing againstkthe sky.
While .st1ll near the river they passed Icy (or Ice)

(I)Handsaker; gg.rbit., p. 1hL.

(2)paden, op. eit., p. 207.
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Slough, an unusuel lgndmark, which in the early Trail days
furnished ice for travelers even in the middle of summer. It
was discovered by some men while digging for water in 8 swampy
Place. About a foot underground they found a six-inch layer
of ic¢ce., The waéer at that high?elevation became frozen during
the winter and, covered by a thick layer of grass and soll,
remained frozen even during'the hot summer. According to |
hear-say, the slough no longer furnishes i1ee, but the place
mey still be seen. |

4 One might expect that the covered wagona met with their
greatest troubles of the whole trip in ocrossing the Rockies,
but such was not the case, Actually the route across South
Pasa, discovered in 1824 by trappers, followed an easy grade
and furnished fairly smooth going. The long slow pull was
accomplished so gradually thaet the emigrants scarcely knew
when they had reached the seven thousand foot summit. The best
eiidence was that the waters of Pacific Spring, just over the
summit, flowed westward. The Pass is about twenty miles wide
and eighty miles long. From the summit looking west the home-

seokers were seeing the Oregon Country for the first time.

I

n IRy "

.

The modern highway passes north of the Trail, joining 1t
at Pacirfie Spring and following near it to the town of Farscn,
Wyoming. Sheepherders tending their large herds of sheep are
common aighin ﬁoar the road on the western mountain slopes.

The Trall crossed three creeks in this region, fittingly
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named Dry Sandy, Little Sendy and Big Sandy, before it finally
reached Green River. This seotioﬁ was desert country watered
ﬁainly by the summer-flooding Green River, & clear swift-
flowing cold stream, diffieult to oross.

The emigrants were able to.replenish their scant stocks

of gupplies at Fort Bridger on Blaek's Fork, a fort built by
 Jim Bridger in 1842 especially for trading with the emigrants.

Nothing remains of the old fort 1itself, but the quarters bullt
by the army in later years are still standing and there 18 a
mugeéeunm,

The Trail went north inte (presqnt*day) Idaho through

-the beautiful Bear River Valley, whefe the main difficulty

was thst of flghting off the hordes of mosqﬁitoes.
Just before leaving the river the travelers came to Soda
Springa, the most unusual landmark along the Trail. Here in

sunken spots (potholes) on the hillside and in tall rock cones

along the river bank were found'naturasl fountains of cool

bubbly sods water. One of those on the river bank was known
as Beer Spring,‘and enother, the only hot spring especlally
mentioned was Steambomt Spring, which steamed, spouted, rumbled,
and bubbled at regular intervals. To the sight-seers these
springs were a source of interest and discussion for days
before aﬁd after. Nost of them are now covered by the waters
of a lake formed by the buillding of a dam on the Bear Rlver.
From the Springs to Ft. Hall, the fort bullt in 1834 by

o b
ek i
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Nathaniel Wyeth, there were no landmarks until the treins
came within sight of the Three Buttes scross the Snake River
from the fort. B

Between Ft. Hall and the Raft River e¢rossing where the
trails forked, one leading to Oregon and the other to Callf-
ornia, there are at leaétrtﬁb Trall lahdmarks'that may still
be-seen. The Trail went batween Qame Eﬁge.beuideis‘which |
were called Hassaore Rocka, ten miles from the town of American
Falls. Here Indian ambushes sometimes oceurred. Two miles
‘from there was Rook Creek Camp,’a good camping apot, where
the names the emigranta carved on the boulders still show

piainly.




CHAPTER III
CALIFORNIA OR OREGON

. When the trains which had left Independence in May, 18&5,
renched Ft. Hall they were met by an old mountain»man, Caleb
Greanwood,(lz and his three sons-~John, 22’ Britaln, 18 and
Sam, 16--who had been sant by Captain Sutter to meet eny Oregon-
bound trains and oncourage settlera to go to California to his
settlement near Sacramento instead of going on to Oregon.
Sutter's purpose was to get farms started near his~p1ace on
which wheat could be raised; then he intended to trade the
wheat ‘to the Russians in Alaska for furs, and thereby make &
fortune for himself.(g) ’

Mr. Greenwood told ths emigrants about the dangerous

Oregon Trnil that 1ed to the north, ths hostile Indians in

- that region, and the cold climate. He said that although no

emigrants had gone to California yet by wagons, there was an
easy grade and that crossing the mountains would not be diffi—

cult; that Capteln Sutter would supply the emigrants with

(I)Frad Lockley,, "Recollectlons of Bengamin Franklin Bonney",
Oregon Historical Quarterly, 24:36-55, (1923).  p. 38, and

Joel Palmer, "Journal of Travela over the Rocky Mountains, 18,5-6"
from Thwalte's Early Western Travels, vol. 30, (Clevelend, Ohio:
Arthur H. Clark Co., 1906), pp. B871-9.

(Q)Lookloy, op. oit., page 38, page. u&.
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potatoes, coffee, and dried beef, and would help them over the
mountains with their wagons. Upon arrival he would give six
seoctions of land from his own Spanish land grant to every head
of a family who would settle near his fort.

In spite of the warnings from the leaders of the trains
about the uncertainty of land titles in California, the folly
of going into a country which was under a foreign flag, and the
unknown dangers to which they would be exposing theilr families,
meny of the people declded to go to Califérnia‘ 1sight wagons
left the main tralns and followed Caleb Greenwood and hls sons.
And who wers among that group? The Skinners, the Bonneys,
Williem Dodson, the Fellx Scott, Sr. famiiy, Elil jah Bristow,
end a few others. They had made up their minds to spend the
winter in Californla at least. Mr. Greenwood drove south with
them for three days, then he headed back to Fort Hall to per-
suade other emigrants to go to Californla. His sons were to
gulde the wagon traln to its destination.

At first the golng was good, but after two weeks!'
traveling they came to a sagebrush desert, across which thelr
progress was slow and painful.(l) At the foot of the Sierra
Nevada mountaing;thgy c amped fo?cseveral days, walting for
other emigrents from Ft. Hall to catch up with them for the

trip across the mountalns. A pack train arrived from Sutter'sg

(I)Horaco Greeley, An Overland Journey from New York to San
Francisco in the Summer 22 IQSQ (Now %ork: C. M. Saxton,
Barker and Co., 1800).
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FPort with the promised supplles.

The trip to the summit took four days, and was very diffi-
cult. Golng down the western slope of the mountains was sbout
88 bad. The slope was so steep the travelers had to fasten
treez on to the back ends of the wagons snd drag them along
to keep the wagons from funning over the oxen.

Upon resaching the‘valley floor the party cemped begide
a clear mountain stream, while the women did the family
washings and the oxen were given & rest from their hard work.
The children of the train played in the stream. One of the
boyé_found pleces of rooks that looked 1ike wheét on the
gravél bars. A man to whom he showed them feeognized them as
gold and cautioned the boy's father to lkeep stlll about the
find, saying.they'would go back there the next spring sand get
rich. (1) The father didn't pay any perticular attenticsn to
the matter and nothing further waa done. sbout the find then.

. According to Captain Sutter's dlary(2) 1t was October 25th,
18445 when the weary emigrants drove into Fort Sutter, or Camp
Sutter, as 1t wes often cailed. The Captaln gave them a hearty
welcome. He made room for twelve famillies to live in ths fort,

end furnished supplies for all those who would jJoin his eolony.

(1)
(2)

Lockley, op. cit., p. L5.
dew Helvetla Diary. A record of events kept by Jcksz 4,

Sutter and his clerks at New Helvetia, Californila, frosz zept. 9,
1845 to May 25, 1848. (San Franclasco, Californle: Tkie Sprab-
horn Press, 1929), p. 51. ‘
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The Fort wes & busy place. Indlan laborers were used to help
with the plowing. The men of the wsgon train were pressed

Into service to make ox—yokes(l) andrtoAbreak the native cattle
and the oxen to the plow.

Neither Sutter's Fort nor califorhia was to be home for
all of the band of travelers who had come-so far together,
after all. Two reasons prompted many of them to go on to
Oregon. There was much sickness among the people at the Fort
éhat winter, for one thing, aigkness_which wag called mountsin
fever (probebly typhoid). and some of the amigréntsAdied of 1t,
among them several children. But the chlef reason for leaving
was that trouble was developing with the Maxicaﬁ government
over the coming of the Americsns to California,‘which_was
Mexican territory. The Mexican government inalsted that the

people who csma overlsnd to Californis must have proper pass-

ports and that any who ceme after September, 1845, must bscome

naturellzed citizens 1f they wished to remain. . Friendly rela-
tions having been broken off between:the United States govern-
menb'and Mexlco, a Mexicen general with é baend of soldiers
came to the Fort in the spring of 1846 snd seid that all
fmericans who did not intend to become Mexican citizens must
leave California.

Most of the Americans preferred to remein Americans end

, = r

(I)Ibid., Pp. 52-3.
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made arrsngsments to lsave immediestely and go to Orezeon.
Captain Sutter urged them to stay, but when he realized that
thelr minds were made up he helped them get resady..

Obvliously, the shortest wey to get to Oregoﬁ was to go
directly north. There was no roed, so they declded against
takling the wagons. Captaln Sutter offered to exchange horses
for their oxen, and this was agreed upon. The plan was to
follow the old Hudson's Bay trappers® trail on horseback to
the Willamette valley, a trip which would take from six to
sight weeks.(l)

Traveling in this manner presentsd many new problsms to
the emigrants. Managing the young children on horsseback was
the heardest problem to solve. 4An old Scotchman at the Fort
finally got the idea of meklng nack saeddles, somewhat liks
baskets, with arms fifteen 1lnches high, and placing one pack
saddle on each slde of the horse, with one c¢hlld in each.

The horses didn't like this any better than the children and
the mothers did at first, but soon the plan proved success-
ful.(Q)'

The 0ld trall led ovsr the 3isityous, zeross the Rogue
River Valley,.through cenyons and over steep ridges to the

Umpqgua, end across the Calencola Yountalns to the "illamette

1) ronn Bidwell, A Journey to Caslifornla (San Franclsco,
Celifornia: John Henry Nash, printer, 1937), p. L5.

(2)Lockley, op. cit., p. L9.




Valley. Through the length of the valley 1t skirted the foot-

hills of the Coast Renge on the west.

When the trsvelers resched the vicinity of Dallas, In
Polk County, they separsted, some golng to Rlckrsall ("La
Creole®), some to Independence. Here they wsre reunited

with thelr neighbors and friends from whom they hsd partad

at Fort Hell the summer before; The newcomers frcm the south
were able to report a fairly comfortable trip from California;

the weather had been good; they were not bothered with wagons

end oxenj and they had éxperienced only minor difficultles

with Indians on the way.
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CHAPTER IV

CHOOSING A HOMESITE IN OREGON

In June, 18L6, leaving Mery at Rickreall to vislt with
the women-folks; Eugene Skinner and Elijah Bristow with two
of their friends of the Tfail, Felix Scott, Jr. and William
LCodson, headed back up the vallsey on horseback looking for
homesites. Each one was planning to stake out his claim
to the six hundred forty acrés of free land which he expected
the Csdsral government to sllow to the sarly settlers.

They rode for seventy mlles or more, and finaliy, after
crossing the McXenzis River and the Middle Fork of the %ills-
mette, near the héad.of the velley, they reached a low, roll-

i1ng ridge covered with oak, fir, and pine. Here El1lJsh Bris-

tow, thrilled with what he saw, sxclalmed, "This 1s my clalm!
Here I will live, and when I die, here shsll I be buried."<l)

The ecountryside remindéd him of Pleasant Hill, Virginia, where

he hsad spent his childhosd. {He later was granted a rsquest

by the Oregon leglslature to have the place named Pleasant
H111l.) Thke party camped at s nearby spring in a grovs of filrs

and cut logs with which they erected a "claim cebin"”, a

1 .
( )quene Morning Reglster, Annlversary Edltion, op. clt., p. 7.




nakeshift affalr representing the foundatlions of a houss.

This was part of the procedure for ¢lalming the land; other
steps included "steoplng off" the clalm, ®blazing” trees, and
driving stakes at the corners of the plece of land.

Dodscn and Scott marired off claimé nes&srovy.

But Zugene Skinner hadn't Tfound just what he wanted,
until, as the party started back on its way north, he and his
comganicnsg stopped to get a view from the Butte by the Willa-
mette, the Butte which the Indilans celled Ya-po-ah and upon
which they performsd ceremonizl daneces occasionally.: After
walldng back and forth on the summit ssverel times, enjoying
the peaceful scene below him, ne sald, "Boys, you taks up
your cleims where you like best; this spot of ground 1s good
enough fof Fugene Skilnner and his famlly. The locatlon 1s
besutiful, surrcunded by these nhills, reminding ms of & bird's
nest, and, with this beautiful river on the north side of this
butte, i3 an 1deal place for & home." He staked out his eclaim
to the allaﬁted 8ix hundred forty acres of land at the western
bazse of the butte. Then the four men returned to Rickrealil.’l)

fugene came backt to his claim in tha fall of 18L3, dring-

inz a man along to4help him build a sxall cabin for his family,

i)
(L’?hoebe Sklnner Tinsey. A typewrlitten report signsd by irs.
Xinsey, daughter of Eugene Skinner, telling the story &s she
understood 1t to have happened, &bout the staking out of the
Skinner cl:im, the bullding of the cabin, and the coming of
the family here from Dallas in 13l;6. (In possession of M4r.
Lester 4. Hulln.) 2. 2.
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and staying only long 2nocuch to gst the cabin built. 3Some

<

Indlans who wers hers advised him to build on the hil
instead of along the river as he had planned to do, and he
took thelr advies. They warned him of floods. This first
caoin of Skinner's became a landmark in 1tself.

Two of the unfortunate emigrants who srrived in December
of 18L6 over the newly-opened Applegats Trail from the south,
after a traglec jJourney, mentloned In later accounts having
seen the Skinner cebin, one of them speaking of it as "the
first sign of civilization we had seen in traveling two
thousand miles."(l)

The other emlzrant, who wrote of it later, was a boy of
thirteen, James Lelghton Collins, who told of his famlly's
arriving here about the 10th of December, 18L:6, in company with
enother family. They were in desperate circumstances, exhausted
by the hardships they hsad undergone on the Applegate Trall, and
now they were faced with bad news told them by William Stilwelfx
and znother man from ¥orth Yamhill, whom they encountered néar
thelr camp at the edge of the forest southeast of Skinner's
Butte. Theae men warned them that "the bottom lands c¢f the
Long Tom River to the north wers so flooded that they thought

it impossible in thelr circumstances to resch the sstitlemsnts

with wegons before ths next summer; and that it was sbsolute

(I)Tolbert Carter, "Ploneer Days", Orevon Pioneer Assoeclation
Trsnsactions, 1898-1912. :.3Lith Reunion, (1906}, p. 30.
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madnass to think of deing it durlng the winter, In

(1}

tiocn they wsre in."

An old French trader, just coming back from taklng supplles
to another sterving train still further back on the trall,
came and cam?ed close by them that evening. He was on his way
north toc the settlsments with a dozen ponies bsaring only
empty pack-saddles. He took plty on the two helpless familles
and agreed to take some of the members and thelr belongings
with him.

Three people remained behind to look out for the rest of
the property end the stock--ir. Collins, his son James, and
Harrison Turnedge, the younger brother of the other man 1n the
group. Jamas told of moving into a partly finished cebin
thet ¥r. Skinner had built during the summer at the bsss of the
butte, and of preparing to spend the rest of the winter there.
Soon after the femilies had gone on with the Frenchman, a man
by the name of Samusel Ruth came %o the cabin. He was badly
erippled in ons leg, destitute and nearly starved, and-had no
friends to turn to for help. He sald he was from Baltlmore,
tnat he had been a sallor for gsveral years, and that he had
srrived in the Valley on foot, having been a stock-driver for

a wagen traln which haed run into difficulties and was conmlng

| and

behind him. He begged %to be =2llowsd to stay at the csabin,

(l)steeves, op. cit., p. 72.
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that they did not have enougn suppliss fcr the thres ol them,

let alone a fourth person, and a helpless cripple at that.
The men talked over their situatlion and declded they had

better try to gst some provisions from somewhere to tide tihem

over the wintsr. Mr. Collins took one of thelr two herze

and rods north, 1nténd1ng tsigét back as soon as possible.
¥hile he wasz gcne snowstorms and freezing weather czme on

and he was delayed several weeks. ‘In the meentime Harrlscn

Turnedge became 111, and James found himself the only able-~

bodied psrson at the cabin., Thelr 2lilght was getting sericus.

The stock wsre scross the slough on the island; the snow lay

four inches deep all over thas Valley; the geme had gone up

into the hills for the winter; and they were almost ocut of food

of eny kind. James had to go on fooft to Spencer's 2utte on a

hunting expedition. He ¥11led a deer, and thet was practically

their only food until February, when ¥r, Collins came back and

(1)

noved them all to thelr new homs.

The cabin hadn't beern wvzcani long when, in the spring of

18L7, Zugene brought his wifez 2ni their 114tl: baby daughter,

Mary Ellzabeth, who had been born in December, to thelr new

home, traveling up the Valiey by wagon.

Thney haed reached the end of the Trail at last!

(I)Ibid., sp. 73-L.
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CHAPTER V

EUCGENE CITY IS FOUNDED

Getting settled was in some waya a vary simpls matter.
The cabin was soon put 1in shape, and with shelter assursd,
the pioneer couple began investligating the problem of a good
water supply. The presence of a wide circle of green rushes
ori the hillside was a clue to locating a good spot for a well,
and sure enough, water was resched at a depth of cnly & {ew
feet.<1)

The erude fireplace took a tig supply of wood, but wood
was plehtiful; all one had to do was to go chop down a nearby
tree. | e
Deer, and even elk, were qulte plentiful in the Vealley,
and;ﬂgf one tired of meat, 1% was a siépla matter to catch a
masé ef fish from the clsar rippling Willamette.

Fiour for baking was' the most difflcult article to get.
The nearest flour mill was at Oregon Clty, 100 miles to the
north. When MYary needed more flour, sugar, salt, or cloth,
i1t was neceséary for Zugene to hitch up the team snd maiks the

long slow ten-day trip to Oregon City and bsack.

While he was gone, ¥ary and the baby, Mary =lizabeth,

(I)Kinsey, op. elt., p. 2.
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who wasn't 72t 5ld enough Yo toddle arcund, were 1sf4 alcne ic
get along ss best they could. Erave though she was, lary
must have dresded beling left zlone. The thought of the wild
animals prowllng arocund st nig?t might well have frightened
her. She couldn't help but wcfry about the possibility of
slckness and accident, either to the beby and her or to her

husband. The prasence of Indians, frisndly or unfriendly,

& o a4 Wk 2 B % xP B

roaming through the velley was a cause for worry also.

T
P

The Indisns were ususlly frlendly to these first white
settlers, but scmstlmes Skinner had to show considerable firm-
ness toward them te make them underatand he couldn't be
bluffed. They were extremely curious about the white people
and thelr belongings. Mary never did reelly enjoy their visitis.
She found that she was expected to serve large quantitles of
food when they came, and not to mind when they showed extra
interest in the baby &nd its curly hair.

According to_early accounta only one white perscn lost
hls life at the hends of the Indians in this region. He was
a young Englishman, nazncd Spsncer, who worked for ths Hudsou's
cay Company. He was passing thrcugh here wlth some companicns
on fur-trading business. The group set up camp late in the
afterncon at the foot of the butts called Cam-pa-te, a few
miles south of Skinner's Buttas. Spencer, wanting to ses ths
view from the top of the butte, went for a’hike by himself.

He falled to return that night and the next morning his




companions started searching for him, only to find his arrow-
riddlsed body lying on the hillsida. One of the Indians who
haed taken pert in the k1lling bragged about 1t later to some
of the white settlers. Dr. Elijsh White, an early missionary,
wrote of having named an slevatlon, which was the same butte,
no doubt, Mt. Spenser, In honor of the Secretary of War.{l)

In September of that first year (1847) Mrs. Skinner had
a newcomer to take care of--a baby deughter, Leonora, born
September lst. Leondra was the first white child born in
Eugene and in Lane County.(z) (Later two more daughters,
Phoebe {1350} and Amelias (1855), and s son, St. John (1851)
were edded to the Skinner family.)'>)

Keeping house and looking after the family k%ept Mrs.
Skinner very busy, but still she missed getting to visit with
other women-folks over her knitting on Sundays, so she was

delighted when other families began taking up donation land

clalms and settling nearby.

(I)Miss A. J. Allen, Ten Years 1n Ore on (Ithsecs, J ¥Y.: Mach
Andrus and Co., printars, 13L8), op. -9.

(Z)Eugpne Morning Register, op. cit., p. 22.

<3)Walling, op. ¢it., p. 487.
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CHAPTER VI
NEIGHBAORS

Elljah Bristow had btullt nis csbin in 1816, alsc, and had
sat right down snd written to his wife and family in Illinoils

to come on ouit to Oregon. By the time they got ths lettsr and

They were

made the long trip to their new home 1t was 18L38.
{1}

surprised to find qulte & settlement at Pleasant Hill!

Meny of %he 18L7 emigrants, worn out by thelr tedlous
Journey, and finding ths beglnnings of a settlemant in such
a likely spot, méde up their minds to settle there, %too.
Several faemllies, including those cf Isssec Brizgs, Ellas
Briggs, Prior Bleir, and Charles Martin took up clslms near
Bristow's. Thrgg4ba§hel§rs—40brnélius Hills, Charnsl Mulligan,
end Wiékliff Gouie§~—éettléd there at thﬁﬁktime.

Benjamin Davis, John Akln, and H; Noble; with their
familles, settled nesr the Skinner's. Abram Coryell end his
son, Louls, %toolk up & c¢lgim neer the spot where ths Ccast
Fork and the Middle Fork meet to form the Willlamette.

As more eand more famllises Increased the slze of the
Skinner settlement, the people reslized 1t was Zesirerle to

begln making some definite plans for the new town which seemed

(1)Walltng, op. cit., po. 325—6.
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to be developlng on the banks of the Willametts. A survey /f
for laying cut a town wss msde in August, 1351, bui wes not

platted and recorded until April, 1852, The firat townslte

wasg laid out between the Butte and the river and Sevénth

Street. HMary Skinner was given the honor of naming the tawh \
which had been called “Skinner's Post Office," and she named

it Zugene €lty, in honor of her husband. Thaere were seven

streets running east and west, numbgrad from First to Seventh,
and four running north and south, named Ferry, 4ill, High, sand
Water. Water Street ran d ong the bank of the river.

These early settlsrs assumed, from thelr experiencs with
rivers "beek East,” thgt the Willamette would nafurally be-
come thz mein route of travel and trade to the towns further
north. And so it was for the first few years, but later

Eugene Clty grew away from the river when water transportation

wag replecsd by the railrosd. It seems odd now to think thils

city was ever expected to become & river port!

Bugene Clty was selected as the county seat of Lane
County in 1853; was incorporsted =s a town in 1862; became
known as City of Rugene in 186L, andrfinally as Zuzene in

1889.

In 1851 there was no one living on the existing townsite.

~

n that

Pt

Even Skinner's home was outsids the eity limits !/
year, howsever, Judge Rlisdon hired Hilyerd Shaw to build him

& house on whet 18 now Pearl Strect between Ninth and Tenth




Streets. It was & fourteen-by-twenty-foct structure, and ceost

savanty-six dollars.

The Skinners hed many neighbors by thisg time. %illiem
Smith had bullt e home one-helf mile from the city-limité on
the Springfield road. Hilyard Shew had a little house north
of where Ceady Hall was leter bull:. Prior 3lelir end Lemuel
Davis ard their families hsad moved to town. Four miles down
the river lived Joseph Davis and hls family; below them lived
the James Peek and John Vallaly families.

Henry Peek snd Abrsham Peek took up donation land clalms
acroas the river, and it wes the latterts farm that Faiker
Young, father of Cal Ycung, bought snd settled on 1n 1352.

Lester Hulin, father of Lester G. Hulin, took up a c¢laim on

the Long Tom in 1BL7, but later, in 1550 he settled just a

few miles northwest of town.
(This 1s not by any means & complete list of early settlers.)
A millffce wzs cut through the northeastern part of town
following the slough bed, in 1851.v A flour mill was bullt on
its benks shortly afterwerd, in 1855, and e woolen mill in
123z,
Hilyerd Shaw and Willlam Smith started & sawmlll on the
river bank nesr the store which Jemes Huddleston hed opened.
¥r. Huddlestcn had & store near the Skinner cebin but he moved

it over to the river bank, taking I. P. Ankeny in as his part-

ner. Zzugsene Skinner started a much needed ferry service on




the Willametts, and Jaccd Sporses cperatsd a ferry on the

McKenzle near the Coburg bridge.

By 187" there were betwesn five and slx hundred people

iving hefa. The discovery of gold in California hslped

tring prosperity to the valley, thereby making it possible
for the ploneers to have better homess and & higher standard
of 1living earlier than they might have had otherwlse. Accord-
ing %o one account (1) there were in the city at that time:
"nine drygoods stores,; two book stores, one drug storse, one
bakery, one restsurant, two hotels, two billliardé saloons,
two printing offlices, three cabinet shops, four blacksmith
shops, two tinshops, two palnt shops, one planing machine
shop, two meat markets, two livery atables, cne flour mill,
one sawmill, one barber shop, one collisgs, one district school-
house, & courthouse, & jall, ons church, 2 Masénic lodge,
three physicians, fdur lawyers, four clergymen, snd one news-
paper." | “

¥ow the Skinners and thelr neighbors could buy most of

the houzehold articles they nesded right here at home.

(&3

Zugens, ths city, coculd lock shead to a promising future.

(l)Irena Dunn'W1lliams, Reminiscences of Zarly Zugene znd
Lane County (Eugene, Oregon: the author, 1941), p. 16.
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CHAPTER VII
THE CHURCHES

To the first,settlers Sundey meant a day of rest. After
the chores were done and bréakfaat was over-there was usually
8 qulet time fof»familyvdevotionals and maybe for singing
some of the old familier hymna. The work of the family was
so planned on Saturday that very 1little had to be dons on the
Sabbath. Thé women bsked bread and cskes or ples ahead, and
roasted huge pleces of venison or bsef, so they wouldn't have
to do much cooking on Sunday. |

After the middéy meal, or before, the family would sit
around and visit with relatives or a nelighboring family who
might have dropped in. - The children were éilowad to go for

anike up on the Butte or over to Day 1sland.  Somet1mes the

- femilies would get together and, taklng a picnle lunch, cross

the old mill dam over to the grove of trees near the river
for an outing on the river bank. Sometimes, iIn later years,
they crossed the Willamette on the ferry and had plcnlcs on
Patterson's Island. - |

These people were mostly serious God-fearing people who
had been used to going to ohnrch back hom§ and who were cager

for their children to have the propdf kind of bringing up.
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or courae; there were & few reckless people who had other
standards of living, just as we find today, but the very fact
that we have churches and schools and high standards of living
is largely due to the ideals held by those first citizens of
Eugene. |
As the gettlement grew, into the valley csme the Circult
Ridera--thg preachers on horseback-~to minlster to the religlous
needs of the peapie. These men (among them Joab Powell, I. D.
. Driver, and Philip Mulkey) held church services either in the
homes or out under the trees. When one of them esme riding
up to the home of gome family to stay a few days he was expected
to visit the neighboring familles and to halpkanyone who needed
help with personal or spiritual problems. Word soon got around
that he was in the neighborhood and ehurch services were
drranqu for the following Sunday in the home or in & nearby
grove. Huge picnic lunches were brought by each family for
miles around to be enjoyed at noon betwsen the morning and
aftevnoon services. These occasions meant a great deal to
everyons. Not only did worshippers get the Blble teaching they
>%\ | craved; they also got to visit with other folks and to heer the
L latest news from back home. When the big day was over the
Circult Rider made ready to be on hia’way early the next
% morning on his lonely ride across mountains, creeks, or rivers

to the next frontier settlement., These men filled a real need

in the 1ives of the pebplo they served.
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The first chureh in thig locality was the Baptist Church,
which was organized 1n_;§§3/on the garicw ferm across the
river. Thils was followed by the Cumberland Presbyterian,
which was sterted in 1853 at the schoolhouse on the farm of

Walker Young s&lso across the river, The first chureh bullding

in Eugene was built by this group in 1857 at Sixth and Pearl

Streets.,

In 185k the Episcopal Chureh group hélamiﬁg firét service
in the temporary courthouse. Eugene Skinner gavb;éomé land
fof'é dhufoh)siﬁé{ and St. Hary's Epiécopal Chufch was opened
'n 1659 , g L L

The Methodist Episcoﬁal Church was organizediin 1854 and
there was & church bullding ready for use’by'IBSQ.

" The Eugene Presbyterian Church,‘started in 1855, and the

Christianlchurch,iin 1366, were others of the 6riginél churches.
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CHAPTER VIII
SCHOOLS~~PRIVATE AND PUBLIC

Oh, yes, thosa pioneer children had to start to school
on Monday mornings, even as you do nowl |

To be sure, thelr schools were considerably different
from ours, but the reasons for having them were much the same.
Those mpther; and fathers knew the value or an_education and
they did notbintehd‘to ha§§ their qhildren lose out on school-
1hg Just because they were pioheefing a new Qoﬁntry. ‘

It 1s true that they were not used to publié schools as
we have them now--schools supported by tax money collected
from every tékpayer, and to which sll pupilé are entitled to
go freevof charge. They were accustomed to select or private

schools taught by iocal women, often in private homes, for

who se teaching serviées‘they pald money direetly to the teacher.

This way of doing meant that some children, from poor families,
might not be able to afford schooling.

The first school in Eugene was started in 1853 in a
amall loé ﬁchoolhouae at "the Point of the Hills" at the

south end of Harris Street. (1) It was faught by Miss Sarsh Ann

(1 )Leonore Gsle Barette, Thumbpqpars (Eugene, Oregon: Plcture
Press Printers, 1950), P. 10. , ‘
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Moore (an esunt of Mra. Nellle Tyson of Eugene), and was &
select school. It was the first of & great many schools of
its type conducted in the town during the next twenty-five
years, none of which lasted very long. There weré a8 many as
five in session at one time.

The territoriel legislature had passed an act in 1849,
which was the {irat general school law, providing for a aystem.
of common schools. Some changes were made in this law in 1853
end 1854, and under this revised law public school education

began ;n.Eugenet =Rev;-Robort Robe waﬁ the first county sohool

superintendent and one of his duties was to "distriet" the

county. Eugene was organized as School District Number L in
185L or 1855 (the first school records were lost). A two-mill
takaas levied for the support of the public schools and the
money was divided according to the number of children in the
districts between the ages of four and twenty-one yearg.(l)

; The first public school was opened in 1856 in & log
building at the corner 6f Elevénth and Olive on land donated
by Mr. Skinner. It was taught by 3. H. Rogers, a "Yankee
Schoolmaster.”

. The publié or distriet sochool 1dea grew slowly. Perhaps
a public school seemsd like a charity school to those inde-

pendent early settlera? Perhaps i1t dldn't offer enough? We'll

(I)Josoph Schafer, "An Historical Survey of Publlic Education in
Eug;ge. Oregon", Oregon Historical Quarterly. 2:155-77. (1901),
P. 55. | |
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out more about that later. 7

By 1875 the district aschool had so many pupils in ettend-
ance that 1t had to make use of an annex, and an old private-
high-school suilding at Eighth and Pearl, called the Red Top
Annex, was pu€=1nto use. f

Three years later, inr 1878, the newVCentraI School opened
at Eleventh and Olive, midway of the block. It was a one-
story building at first, costing four thbusaﬁdﬂdoll&rs.~
" Later. another floor was added to it. (The population of
Eugene was three thousand three hundred six by that time.)

According to the records of 188li, four hundred students
‘were going to school ih the new building, and there were slx

‘teachers in charge.

Times had changed; the publlec school was here to stay.

(In 1903 the Central School was moved to the original
schoolhousge corner on Olive Street to make way for the fifst
High School,; the present City Hall, which was bﬁilt at the
corner of Eleventh and Willamette that year.)

Students having had advanqed subjects in the upper grades
went directly from the early seleet schools into academles or
colleges, or if they wished they could go out to teach. There
- were no high schools as«yet:Afhe.rirst‘two years of college
courses were about equal to high achool level, and a college
- course -actually covered six years of work, due to that arrange-

ment.
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Late in the 1850's Professor Cornelius established an

academy known as Eugene Acaedemy, but it didn't stey in session
long.

Professor Enoch P. Henderson started a private high school
at Eighth and Pearl in 1866, which lasted four years, at which :
time John Arnold and Robert Véatoh, just graduated from Willem- %f
ette Unlversity at Salem;VOpened 2 private school. It stayed 3

in sesslion only one term, and the next year Mr. Arnold taught

wanted to develop a good secondary school, and by teeching
higher subjects in the publie school he helped encourage the
establishment of a public high school. (1)

Tasm g oyt

| In 1870 the St. John High School was opened in the Skinner
Butte Academy bullding by the Rev. D. KcManus. Readlng,
writing, grammar, arlthmetle, algebra, geometry, trigonometry,

RLEW B L
E3is 285 Fi.

; Latin, Greek, and French were taught--subjects intended to

".,.N,,‘
v 4

prepare students for college entrance.
The University, which was established in 1872 and opened \

1ts doors 1n 1876,began encouraging the eatablishing of publie

l " Latin, Higher Algebra, snd Geometry in the publie school. He a

high schools, and by 1897 had done away with the flrst two

years of 1ts course, which was equal to high school work. The
Eugene School Board thereupon began offering the flrst year

of a high school course in the public school.

W1pta., p. 6.
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(In 1903 the new High School at Eleventh and Willamette
wag put into use, and twelve years later thse present Eugene
High School was built.) | _

(The University High School started 1ts career as a
Junior High School 1ln connectlon with the Education seh001 in ‘
the Oregon bullding on the campus in 1916 " and gradually
davelopod into a aix-year high school. In 1920~21 the new
building on Aldar Streeh was. built and the Uhiversity High

school, now_; stendard four—year:high school, moved in.)}




CHAPTER IX
THE UNIVERSITY

Eugene's first oollege, Columbia Colloge, was established
in 1856 by the Cumberland Preabyterian Church of Oregon, ‘and
was taught by Professor Enoch Henderson. It was 1ocated on
College Hill, nesr the corner of Nineteénth'nnd Olive Streets.
Fifty4énb‘ntndents~enrolled for the rirstvterm; and the
college's prospects looked bright, until on the fourth night
after the term oponed, when the school building burned. It
was rebuilt and started out anew with one hundred students.
Bofore the end of the first year the building again burned to
the ground. A third building, this one of stone. was put into
Vuse. By this timo the enrollment had increased to one hundred
fifty. But still the college was doomed to failure. Mr.
Henderson resigned, a new president was chosen but he, too,
rasigned, and the Board of Directors gave up and closed the‘
college. | ' |

The reaaons back of all this trouble were political as
well as financial. This was near the time of the Civil War
and aithouthOregon‘ias a long way from the battlé rront“f
people took sides on the iasuea of the dey~-slavery and states’
rights, mainly--and feeling ran high here in Eugens. Mr.

vHenderaon and the Board~disngrqqd upon many policles; the




- private schools. In this way the presence of the College
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Board members didn't agree smong themselves; the,séodnd>;
president turned out teo be a Southerner, and on top of all
these troubles there was the matter of the eést of rebullding :
school buiidingss ' o T . : Ar
Columbla Collsge, even though 1t lasted only a short
time, was of great lmportance in the later school history of
the town for two reasons. The people of Eﬁgane remembered

it as an lmportant center of learning, and some of 1ts students

were among those who later worked the hardegb-tp hav§“the
UniverSity located here. On the other hend, these people,
after having known about the college courses, were not Inclined
to be satisfled with the offerings of the district schools.

The town was not ready to supply the kind of secondsry school

that was needed, so the people fell back upon the 1ldea of

held back the dsvoiopmsnt of the publlie (district) school
and of the public high school. (1)

- The 1dee of a state university developed slowly. Farms
were far apart; transportatlion was slow and difficult; there
were few towns; and the Gold Rush had occupied people's

attention for two or three years.(z)

The United States Congress in 1851 actually helped bring

MW 1bta., p. 57, |

(2)Hen
ry D. Sheldon, History of the University of Oregon
(Portland, Oregont BInTorEa‘and Mort, + PPe I?-%B.

-
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on & demand for a stete unlveraity by offering to glve two

townships of government land to each state, the 1§ggggwtnom

the use or sele of which wag to be used to create & fund for EEAT

mencn N o e i

the support of a university, once it had been built by the
state. ‘ ‘

Even thqugh~theinew~state was not ready to build a;
university on its own, the offer of free land to start a fund
was too good to turn down, and suggeations were soon made for
suitable locationa. In 1851 iarysville (now Corvallis) was
gugg&sted as a site, and the ant jear Jacksonville in south-.
ern Oregon waa mentioned.

- In 18562 Congress passed the Morrill Land Grant Aet giving
the states 90,000 acres of land each toward forming a fund
for the-sﬁpport of an agricultural coilege.‘ There were at
that time,aeven Church colleges in Oregon: one in each of
thess towns--Salem, Marysville, Monmouth, Forest Grove, MecMinn-
ville, Philomath, and Newburg. A start was mede toward ful-
f11ling the Morrill Act plans by adding an agriculture section
to the privata college at Marysville, controllsd by the
Methodlst Church South.

- Many people favored putting the two funds together and

creating one large institution, while othera wanted one col-

" lege at least that was not under the control of any church.

By 1872 the question of where to build the state university

was certain to come up before the state legislature, Several

£
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Eugens men--B. F. Dorris, Judge Thompson, E. L. Bristow, Dr.
A, W, Patteraon, J. G. Gray, T. G. Heﬁdricks, J. J. Walton, Jr.,
W. J. J. Seott, ahd W. H. Abrams--formed the Union University
Assoeiation for the purpose of trying to get the leglslaturs

to choose Eugene as the site for the state university. Their
plen was to offer to buy a site in Eugene:and to build a fifty
thousand dollar building, to be ready for use in two years.

Other planz were suggested to the leglslature by various
other town groups, but the"Eugoﬁc offer was accepted, after
considerable argument. The fsot that two-~thirds of the state's
population was 1n‘thé Willemette Vailey,‘and tpat the Eugens
offer was the only one which was not sonnected with any church
group_Influench the declision.

The Union University Asscciation members met with
troubloa'galérelin their attempts io live up to their bargain.~’;
They had agreed to raise £20,000 themaelves and the county
Court was sxpected to reise the other $30,000vby taxation.

The Court recelved so many complaints from taxpayers that 1t
was not able to furnish its share of the money and the Assocla-
tion members had to ralse the money the best way they could.
Itivas}a hard struggle. They had.to ask for cash gifts,

wheat, iivestock-fanything that could be sold to get cash.

The promised bduilding, named Deady Hall in honor of
Judge Deady,; president of the Board of Regents, was finally

turned over to the state in 1876, two years late, It was not
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completely finished. Only the first floor was ready to be

used for classes. The second floor was ready by 1877, and '°‘?
soon afterward the third floor was put into use as an assembly

" hall. Later it had to be used for classrooms, because of

inereased enrollment. | '

A board fence seven feet high wes built around the campus,
and & well was dﬁg. | | '

One hundred seventy-seven students registered in October,
}876;4n1noty~soven of them at the preparatory level and eighty
at ool;gggﬁlpvql.paMany'atudénts,had followed their instructors
herevfrom oﬁher colleges. |

You may wonder about the five instruetors who started out
so bravely in this unfinished bullding located away out on the
edge of town, with slmost no equipment, and with no certainty
of getting regular selaries. They were to be paid out of
whatever money came in from tuition and from the interest on
the government land fund. /

The first pregldent was J. W. Johnson. He had come Wesat
from Missourl by ox teem as a boy, later returning East by
way of the Isthmus of Panama to attend Yale University, from
which he graduated in 1862. He beceme president of McMinn-
vill College, and later prinecipal of Portland High School,
the only public high school in Oregon at that time. He was
a strict teacher and a hard worker who expected his students

to work hard, too. He teught Ethics and Latin. .
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Dr. Thomas éondon, & witty Irishman, well 1liked by his
students, came herse from Pacific Unlverslity at Forest Grove,
where he had been an instructor. He taught Geology, Hlstory,
end Natural History. He studied the John Day fossll beds in
Central Oregon and made a valuable fossil collection. He was
an Interesting spesker end was soon recognized as a leader in

the educational fleld in Oregon. 'Condon Hall and Condon

-School are named for hin.

Professor Mark Balley of Massachusetts, presldent of

MeMinnville College, eceame here to tesch Mathematles and

Astronomy.

Mrs. Mary Spiller was principal of the English preperatory
depsrtment end taughtAElocution. Miss Mary Stone was her
assistent. The preparatbryrdepartment took the plece of a
secondary school.

University life In the 1870's wes vastly different from
University 1life todsy. The Unlversity was one bullding--

Deady Hall--standing all alone out on the edge of town in

a stubblefield, overlooking the millrace, and surrounded by

a high boasrd fencse, complete with a stlle. There were & few
oek trees on the northeast corner, which were later called
the Condon Oaks and which are still standing.

The class of 1883 planted some ceder trees, but most of
them died dﬁring the dry season. The regents pald the janltor

to set out some firs, cedars, and maples the next yesr, and
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many of those trees are still thers.

The studénts peld forty dollars tultion for the yesar,
and boerd and room in private homes cost four dollérs a weel.

The subjects offe;ed were intended to "trailn the mind."
The students studled thelr lessons cserefully and were expected
to be gble to repeat‘them to the instructor exaétly the way
they were 1n the book. The purpose of education then was to
traln orators, lawyers, minlisters, writers, snd statesmen.

The students' leisure time was very strietly supervised.
They had to get permission from the faculty to go to church
entertalnments or lectures in the evening. They were not
permitted, except on extremely rare occesions, to teke part
in plays, slnce play-acting was not accepteble. The new stu-
dents were welcomed at a walk-around, an Informal get-acquainted
party. Dancing w;;/forbidden by the faculty.

Literary and debating socletlies served as the main form
of recreatlion. The women students formed the Eutaxlian Socilsty,
and the men formed the Lsurean Soclety; the two organlzatlons
being kept entirely sceparste in thelr activities.

A baseball club was sterted as early as 1877 and a few
gemes were played. A gymnasium was bullt in 1890 (in which
boxing gloves were not allowedl).

A Unlversity bend fufnished music for entertelinments 1in

1879 and 1880.

(Football became popular in 1893. Cal Young was "coacher"
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of the first team,) »

The blg event of the year was Commencement. Each graduate,
dressed in hls best end looking very solemn, made & speech.
People ceme from far and near in thelr wagons and hecks to
attend this serlous occaslon, which lasted all dey. At noon
esch famlly brought out a lunch basket and everybody ate
together under the trees.

In 1881 legal ection wes started by two men to collect
about eight thousand dollars in old unpald bills, dating back
to the starting of the University, &nd 1t locked for a time
as 1f Eugene might have to glve up its bullding, Deady Hall,
to pay these debts. The wealthy rallroad builder, Henry
Villerd, saw the news of the affailr in the Portlend newspapers
end he wrote to Judge Deady, offering to help pay the bills
end save the University bullding. He peld seven thousand
dollers, aﬁd & group of Eugene citizens‘paid the remainder,
and the Hall weas saved. | |

Mr. Villard became interested in the struggling young
university and gave & large sum of money to help it along.
This gift end increased funds from the state made 1t possible
to add more instructors and equipment and to build another
building. 1In 1886 a two-story brick dbuillding, fittingly named
Villard Hall, took ite plece beside Deady Hell.
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CHAPTER X

TRANSPORTATION

Going placeé in those times took & great deal of energy,
endurance, determiﬁation,.and courege. A simple jourhey,
such as to Coburg by horseback, for instance, meant saddling
ﬁp; crossing the Willaemette by canoe~ferry, with the horse
swimming alongéide (until vetter ferry servlice was started);
riding along the old Indlen trail to thekHcKenzie. crossing
the McXenzie on Spore's fefry, end riding on to Coburg. All of
this took hours. J

The United Stastes government, in 1857, ordsred Phil
Sheriden and two reglments of soldiers to build a ferritorial
Roed up the western side of the valley, which thsy did, follow-
Ing the o0ld Hudson's Bay trapvers' trail from Portland to
Dalh#h along the foothills southward to the Long Tom, past
Crow, Franklin; Lorane, and on to the Umpqua Valley. Another
road, whieh was later spozen of as the East éide Territoriel
Road wes bullt at ebout this time along the foothllls of the
Cgécades, from Oregon City, by way of Silverton, Lebanon,

Brownsville, Coburg, Eugene, and Springfleld.

“Pravelers could ride Lovseback, or if they were wealthy
enough to own one they could ride in comfort in a buggy,

wiiieh held two people end was usually pulled by one horse.
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Hacks were in common use for state occasionsj they were two
or three-geated conveyences with black ollcloth-coversd tops,
‘and were built high off the ground, requiring two 1lron stsps
by which a person climbed up into the vehicle. A fermer took
pride in hls handsome teem gnd hack. Farm wagons wers used
for travel, too, and 1f more geats wers needed than the three
spring seats which came with the wagon, boards were laid
scross the top of the wagon bed and people set on them.

The building of the Territorial Roed was the signal for
the coming of the Concord stsgecoach, which, with 1ts lively
tesms of horses and 1its pleturesque driver, furnished a faster
and much more exciting means of travel. It was a resl halr-
raising éxperienca to take e trip by stagecoach! The traveler
could ex?ect to either be shaken to pleces, frightened to
death, or, possibly, to lose ell his valuables if the stege
was held up by "road agents," as sometimes hesppened, There
was never a dull moment! The mell, which had previously |
been carried by men on horseback, wasfsent now by stage.

Fréight wagons, pulled by slx or eight mule teams, car-

rled heavy loads of freight to the mlnes and to southeestern

Oregon over the Oregon Centrsl Military Road which was conm-

pleted in 1865 by way of the Middle Fork of the Willemette,

connecting with Owyhee in the Snske Rlver region.(l)

(1)gscer 0. Winther, The 01d Oregon Country (Stanford, Calif-
ornla: Stenford Universlity Press, 1 , p. 125.
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Cattle owners and fermers with farm products te sell
wished for & road to connect the Velley wlth Eastern Oregon
by way of the McKenzie; but 1t was not until 1861 that an
ettempt was made to open up a road. In that yeer Csptaln
Fellix Scott, Jr., one of the four original'settlers of the
counéy, drove a bend of cattle over the mountains, makling use
of Indian traills wherever possible. The route proved to be
too difficult for wegons, but continued to be used for &
stock roed, until after the discovery of the Lost Creex Canyon
in 1871, when the road wes re-routsd through that canyon and
could then be used for wagons.

Thirty miles a day wes about all thst hérses could trsvel,
and the stagecoach horses were changed every elight or ten
milga at regular stetions elong the way. When travelers from
Fugene City wanted to take s trlp up the McXenzie to Foley
Springs, & favorite resort of the times, the journey took two
days. The first day's travel by hack would take them to a
stopping place where Vida is now. (We can drive there in
thirty minutes.)

Canoes and rafts were used first for river travel, end
served & useful purpose. By 1853 boats were being used on the
w1llametté between Portland and Salem;(l) gradually the service

was extended to Corvallis, and during the ralny season the

(I)Randall V. Mills, Stern-TWheelers Up Columblia (Palo Alto,

Cslifornia: Pacific Boous, 19L7), p. 1591,
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boats could make 1t to Eugene. These earliest boets were slde-

.. *heelers.

The first steamboat to reacﬁ Fugeneo's landing was the
"Jemes Clinton" which arrived in March, 1856, (1) having made
the fifty-thres-mile trip from Corvallls in thres days! In
1861 ths stesmer "Rellef" not only reached Eugsens, but went
on to Springfield also, 1t being the only steamer to go that
far.

ﬂany attempts were mades to establlsh asteamboating on a
paying basis, but the upper river just wasn't deep enéugh for
navigation, &nd after one final effort--the triai run of a
fine new steamer named "The City of Eugene" which grounded on
a gravel bar behind the Butte in the 1890's<2)to everyone's
disappointment-~steamboating becsms a thing of the paest on the

upper Willsmette.

Various survayé were made for raillroesds to tap this
region as oarly as 1864. One plan called for a railroad from
Jacksonville to Portlsnd, another for one from Portlend to
the Willamette Velley. Sﬁill another would have connected
Eugene with Corvallls, which was still considefed e river port.

The Orégon and California Railroad Cowmpany, with Ben

(L 1p14., p. 55.

(Q)Ibid.,»p. 191, and Luc!a Moore, Nine McCornsecx, Gladys
McCready, The Story of Eupgene (New York: Stratford House,

19,—«»9) » P m'
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Holladay, famous early day railroad builder, as presldent,
*bullt the first rallwsy lines throughvhere, connecting Portland
and Sacrzmento. The first traln of ears arrived on Sunday,
October 8, 1871, and recelved a welcoms by the whole town. The

coming of the rallroad soon brought an end to stagecoach travel.




T B . H " v . . P

CHAPTER XI
IHCIDENTS OF THE TIMES

Webfoot. You want tc know why we’rs spoken of-as Web-
fcbts? Well, thers's a story about it that goes like this:
The term seems to have originated near the banks of the Leong
Tom River. As the story goes, a commércial traveler (aome-
times called s drummer) 'was spending the night at the home of
a farmer. It had been raining very hard, as it frequently
does yet in the Willamette Valley, and most of the Long Tom
20il was submerged, which caused the travelsr to remark
sarcastically, 'The chlldren living arocund here ought to
have beén born wqbfooted.* The farmer's wife replied, 'We
had thought of that,' at the samse time exhibiting to the
astonished tourist her baby's feet, whieh had webs between
the toes. The story lost nething in ths t2lling, and we
still remain webfooters."(})

Floods. It seemad as 1f the Willamette just waited
untll thse ploneers got nicely settlsd, with thelr homes, fgrm
buildings, énd fences built, before 1t began showing them
what 1t could do. in the winter of 1851 there was a flood

which did conslderabls demage but 1%t was mlld eompared with

(I)Egggne Yorning Reglste=, op. eit., p. 5.
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the flood of 1861. That one ceme after two months or more of
snow and rain and 1t flooded the whole vallsy to a depth of !
four feet, carrylng away buildings, fences, and stock, and

scaring people half out of thelr wits. Bugene Clty was flooded,

&s were the other river towns to the north. Meny thrilling

st

tales were told later of rescus work. The settlers were given

a rest during the next twenty years until 1881, when another

disastrous flood came slong, destroying much property and
doing wideapread damage. It did not reech as high a level as
the flood of 1861 but it was bed, nevertheless. (1)

CE(E FIITE LFEF Fhdsiirc Fooien
9 sﬁ’u‘u# af%’f.‘&;:., W oaid .
k)

In the high waters of 1890-91 the #Willamette changed its

course to the present channel through the north side of town.

Willamette. The part of the river below the falls at

e B i 6 id

Oregon City was known as the "Multnomah” by the Indiens and
the upper section was called the "wil-lam-et,"” "Wil-luh-met,"
or "Wil-lath-met." It is not known how the last useless "te"

was adopted.(ex

Early Doctors and Medicinos. Weren't there doctors and

dentists in ewmrly Bugene? Well, Dr. A. W. Patterson came here
expecting to practice medicine, but he didn't find enough
doetoring to do to lkteep him busy, so he became a surveyor, and

later a county school superintendént and wrilter of textbooks.

- |
)Walling, op. c¢it., p. 337.
(2)1v14., p. 357. . | i




without having been approved by the doctor. Among these were

When a doctor was needed In those days someone would

have to go to his house to tell him. Then Doc would greb up
his medieine satchel and go on horsebgek or in his buggy to
the sick person's home. He'd examine ths patlent as thoroughly

as possible with hls simple equipment and, 1f he thought he

-

had any medicine that would help, ﬁe*d mix up some‘and leave
it. The members of the household would stand eround, wateching
intently as the doctor opened his ﬁedicine case containing
rows cf little round zlim bottles of drugé. He'd choose very
carefully and deliberately one or another of the bottles,
measure out the amounts he wanted on & plece of paper, and

then ask for water to be brought, after which he'd stir the

mixtures into a gless {(or eup) of water. Next he'd write ﬁhe'

G e b VWY el TR

directions on & plece of paper and lay it on top of the glass. i
Later, docﬁors mixed the powders and put them in 1little ?'-E
gelatine capsules to be swallowed with a drink of water. Some :
common remedies for various allments which they recommended
were quinine, castor oil, liniment, Dover's powders, Blue Mass,
and turpentine. 'i%

- of courge, there were many ﬁOme remedieg that werse used Ef

such items as ground mustard and flax sesd for poultlces;
turpentine and carbolic acid for wounds; horse liniment for
msn and beast; gunpowder mixed with milk for ringworm; vermi-

fuge, c¢innamon and hoarhound tea with cayenne pepper 1in 1it, : ;




fgf bad colds; skunk 01l for chest ecoldsi and others too
numerous te mention.(l)’

{Dentists, such as there were, used a murderous-looking
instrument called a turn-key for extracting teeth.)

Cupping was used as & method of giving rellef in some
forms of sieckness. 1t was dons by using. & 1ittie glass cup
into which a few dreps of aleohol were poured, which were
1gnited by e iighted matech. The flre burned up the oxygen,
éﬁd when the\cup was quickly clepped on the patient;é body
a vacuum was formed, and the flesh was sucked int?’the cup.
It seems to have been done to atimulate circulatién.(z)

Disesses gnd Allments. Smallpox sppesred in 1869, in

1872, in 1876, and again in 1881. At first nobody knew what
to do to prevent its spread. The second time it broke out
the olty council established & pest-housse flve miles from téwn
where sick people were to be taken. It wasn't until the epi-
demic of 1881 that vaecination was resorted to, and even in
that ysar the pest-house was still used.

Inflammetion of the stomach and bowels was qulte common
and was probably what we know as appendlcitis. Lung fever
lwas the name then for pneumonia. Putrid sore-throat must have

been diphtheria. It was extremely contaglious and nearly

(1)steeves, op. eit., p. 3L5.

(2)w1111ams, op. eit., p. 3L.
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élways fatal. Felons on the fingers were very common, and

slck headaches were, in a sense, fashionable.(l)

Tolling of the Bell. While we arse still on the subject

of sickness let's read a resolutlion presented in city counecll

meeting on October 9, 1876:

Whereas, it having bsecome an universal custom to toll.
the court-house or public bell on the death of any and
all persons, even in the silent hours of night, and even
when others are languishing on sick-beds, when every
stroke of the bell causes a shock to thelr wesk nerves,
and in meny instences 1s a serlous injury to them, to
say nothing of the meny timld women and children who
experlence terrible feelings at the tolling of the bell;
therefore be it

Resolved, That the tolling of the bell at the death of
a8 person iz a custom unknown anywhere else, except on
extraordinary occasions, and we condemm ths practice.(2)

First Council and ¥ayor. You've heard the council men-

tioned. Maybe you'd 1like to know something about that flrst
council end our first mayor? When the elty of Eugene was
incorporated in 1864 the charter provided for a council to be

elected, but until the specifled electlon date arrived, the

following men were appointed to serve: J. B. Underwood, presl-

dent {about the same as mayor); J. A. McClung, E. F. Skinner,
F. B, Dunn, €. C. Croner, Williem T. Osburn, T. G. Hendricks,
trusteea; A. A. Skinner, recorder; Bell Jennings, treasurer;

C. H. Fox, marshal; Thomas Chase, street commissloner. Theay

(L 1p14., p. 3L
(Q)Walling, op. cit., p. Lo8.
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had the pbwerfto establish hospltels, prevent or remove
nulssnces, provide water for the city; to license and regulate
peddlers, taverns, monsy-changers, hackney-coaches, wagons,
csrts, end omnibusses; to provide for the removal of stending
water; and in other ways take eare of the city's business.(l)

Barbershop. Early day barbsrshops served a very useful

purpose, Men went there for shaves, hairecuts, snd to have
thelir beards and moustaches trimmed, but, in addition to this
they also went there to take baths, if they were single men
who "roomed" in a boarding house or private home. Each man
who patronlzed & certain shop had his own shaving mug or cup
which sometimes had his nsme on 1t and which was 1lsft on a
shelf in the barber shop betwsen visits.

Newspspers. One of the signs of progress in a city is

"the publlcation of newspapers, and Fugene began boasting a

newspaper as early as 1858, ecsalled the "Paocifie Journal."
Others followed, continulng for & few months, or, in some

cases, a few years. Among them were: "People's Press";

"Democratic Herald™; "State Republican"; "Democratic Register";

"Herald of Reform"; "Eugene City Review"; "Union Crussader";

"Oregon State Journal"; "Tugene City Guard." Sometimes one
of them would be In circulation, sometimes two, and occcaslon-

ally, none at all.(a)

(L 1p1a., p. 395.
(@) 1b14., p. 3L8.
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Banks. The Lane County Bank and Hendricks and Eakin's
Bank were opened in 1883, further signs of the growth of the
town.

Skinner's Post Office., The settlement here was someitlmes

spoken of as Skinner's Post Office, but when the townslte waa
laid out the original locatlon didn't prove to be setisfactory.
"During the hesavy winter rains 1t becsme & quagmire and
obtalned the well earned name of *'Skinner's ¥ud Hole.! Indeed
1t is sald that the mud there was of so fine & quellty apdiso
deep that tﬁo hogs that wers rooting aebout in the semi-aqueous
n(l)

streets sank out of sight to be forever lost to view.

Fourth of July. The Fourth of July was & great day for

celebrating. People csme into town from all over the country-
slde. There were fireworks and a psrade, end anvils were flred
on the Butte st dswn in imitetion of a cennon. "One anvil was
placed on top of snother with some powder placed between, and
touched with a long lighted stick. As the top eanvil jumped

off into the gir at the explosion, it made & tremendous boom

which could easily be heard ell over town in those days when

the houses were few. Thls anvil ceremony also signified Christ-

mas."(2)

City Improvements., In 1869 the Eugene City Water Ditch

(1)Ib1d., p.1392.

(2)y1111ams, op. eit., p. 37.
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Company wags formed.to bring a ditch of water Into the town

from a polnt two and s half miles above the city. In 1871
arrangements were made>to;héve Willamette Street graded, end
gas lights were contracted for from the Maxlim Gas Cémpany of
San Francisco for the streets of the city. 1883 saw the bulld-
Ing of a flrs engine house, and the purchese of a fire engine.

District Schools. In 1875 the county school superintendent

described the schools of the county as follows:

Everywhere within the limlts of the county, the eye 1s
pained by the contrast between large and flourishing
flelds of grain, extenslve farms, large orchsrds, and a
general appearance of prosperity and the econdition of
dlstriet schcol builldings, including bhoth thelr construe-
tion and internal sasrrangements. One of the wealthlea?i
dilstricts crowds 1ts children into a seven by nine foot
nouse constructed of logs; the two windows are mere slits
In the slde, suggesting a comical comparison with a
Chinamen's optics. Morsover, the door of thls wonderful
temple of learning 1s placed in the gable becsuse the
elevation of the building will not admit 1t at the side,
One seats the puplils facling the center, another places
thelr backs to the black-board, probably in consideration
of children's well-known propensity to look behind them.
Whatever may have been the motives suggesting the arrange-
ments of many of our schools, they certainly esre a study
worthy the attentlon of lovers of the marvelous. It is
with confusion that I confess there is not a publle
school in the county which furnlshes a single article of
eppsrstus, map or chart, not excepting the city of Emugene,
where one~elghth of the children in the county are edu-
cated, or herded--whichever may be the most avpropriate
term--within four bare walls, constituting a mere shell
that invites, by its desolateness, every specles of
vendalism and much better calculated to send forth upon
the world a horde of barbarians that would have delighted
Alaric himself, then to educate, refine and civilize.
Another damaging feature in our school policy applles to
the whole State, nemely, the waeste of money, time and
energy consequent upon an almost entire dependence on

the few dollars of public. funds; an excellent provision
and great sid, but almost worthless, becsuse not su.ple-
mented by &n equel amount that should be raised by direct

ey
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tax. Our people have yet to leerz thet parsimony and
economy sre a&s opposite as the ::l:; znd that two consecu-
tive terms are worth more than tir:e geparated by
intervals of mental ldleness and Z’::ipation.

walling, op. cit., po. 357-8.
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CHAPTER XII

RECREATION

It's a Saturday in the 1860's and the cousins are coming
from Springfleld to st&& ovér'éundéyi Aunt and Uncle ars
coming, too, but 1t's the coming of the beloved cousin-play-
mates that fhrilla‘our young Eugene ploneer children to the
tips of their copper-toed shoes. Just think of sll the fun
they'll heave together!

But first things have to come first. The chickens have
to be fed; the cows milked} the horses esnd the barn taken
care of3 the pigs fed from the slop bucket--much of this has
to be done even before breakfast.

Breakfest in the big, warm, good-smelling kitchen 1s a

hearty family meal at which gll of the family sit down together.

After Papa returns thanks everybody pitches in with enthusliasm.
Ther: 13 elweys plenty of hot nush, with brown suger and creams.
home-~tade light-oread or buns; frled ham or pork or venlsonj;

eggs; milk and coffee or tea.
Immediately‘after the meal the rest of the morning chores
have to be done in a hurry. (The cousins will probably arrive
by ten o'elock!] There are the dishes to be washed and driled;
the wood and kindling to be split and carried in; the beds to

be opened up and aired for an hour or so; the bresd to be baked,
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having been "set" the night before with the potato-yeast
starter; Sundsy's dinner to plan and prepasre for, which ususlly
means the baking of cskes or ples and a Jar of beans, and the
roasting of a big chunk of meat; sweeping end dusting the
house, and getting tidled up for company. DBeslides all this,

the cats and dogs have to be fed their breakfasts, and that

TN G i iead

13, of course, the children's job.

The hours pass so slowly when you're walting for some-
thing to happen! All of & sudden, though, the ery 1s heard,
"Here they come, here they come !" and the children rush out
to the front gate to welcome thelr company. Then everybody
talks at once and nobody can understand asnybody!

While the women-folks go on into the house to chat over
their knltting or fancy-work, the men go out to the barn to

tekte csre of the horses. Thls leaves the cousins free to do

A S

as thef please for awhile, and away they go to the orchsrd
where they can talk to their heart'a content, free from having
to run errands, and where maybe they can find a few ripe apples.
The guests are esger to tell of thelr hour's ride over
from Springfleld. They tell excitedly of getting up early,
of rushling through thelr breaufasts, packing their valises,
helping with the chores, and finelly, of climbing into the
hack and riding down to the ferry.
The river is a'bit high, and that makes the erossing more

exciting and scary than ever. It 1s a funny feeling you get
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when Papa drives the tesm and hack onto the ferry (or scow).
The ferry sesems to go down into the water a foot or more. It
is fun to get out of the hack and stend by the ferry-railing,
#atching the river go swirling by. Then, when the ferry nesrs
the other side, you scramble bacﬁ into your seat. As Pspa
starts driving off the ferry, up the muddy bank, you feel the
ferry boat come up in the water. It 1s & queer feeling to
have that blg ferry rise under you like that!

The horses have to pull very hard to make it up the wet
bank but once they get up on the level ground they trot right
slong on the dirt road through the pine trees, followlng the
course of the river,

There aren't many houses or people to see on the way to
Eugene, but the rlde is fun enywey. There's nobody home at
Grandpa and Grandma Judkin's place, near the point. The weep-
ing willow at Willlam Smith's house has grown & lot slnece the
last trip over. The Chichester house {corner of 13th and
University) 1s s handsome new house in colonial style. The
oaks nearby furnish some change of scenery from the stubble-
fields that line the road much of the way. Once the county
road (Alder) 1s reached, the journey 1s practicsally over. (1)

By the time the young follks have made the rounds of the

farm the call "Dinner i1s ready ! comes as & welcome sound, and

(1)

¥Williams, op. eclt.,
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there 1s & rush for the wash stand by the kltchen door. One
person pumps a bucket of water while another 1s hastily wash-

ing face and hands in the basin.

It always seems so much nicer when there aren't too many |

people for dinner. Then everybody can be seated ard eat at
once; otherwise the children have to walt for second-table,
and that is hard to do when you're hungry. But that 1s the
way you're taught to do. The fathers and mothers, sunts and
uncles, grandmothers and grendfathers are older, and must be
trested with proper respect, and children must lesrn self-
control.

During the afternoon the whole group goes for a walk
down to the landing dock on the river bank. The river 1s high
encugh so that the steamer from Corvallis should be able to
meke 1its run, and 1t's a lot of fun to wateh it come chugging
around the bend. Jther people are gathered there near the
store, waiting. Sure enoupgh, after awhlle the boat's whistle
1s heard end the steamer comes into sight, stlll several min-
utes away.

After conslderable maneuvering around, the steamer's line
is finally made fast to the dock and the pessengers sare helped
off the boeat. Cheery greetings and bits of news are exchanged
by the boat's crew and the spectators as the boat is belng
unloaded, Cradually the crowd drifts away, needing to get

home to, do chores.
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The evening meal i3 ﬁ}epnraé hastily: the chores sre
soon donej end the men harnssa up the work horses to the wegon.
The whole fauwlly, wlth gueats included, 1s going to a dance -
to be held in s nelghborts new barnl They don't have far to
go, snd once thers, the younger childrsn srs put to bad in

the neighbor's apasre bed or on the bedroom floor, while the

dancers form thelr gqusres for a quadrille, snd the svenlng

is off to a fine start! The flddler and the “"ecaller” are
ziven 11%tle rest until midnight, when everybody stops for

2 hearty mi&nigﬁt supper of sandwiches, baked beans, cake snd
coffes {(whish esch family heiged'rurnish). ¥Within an hour

the dancers sre at 1t agein, and the dance oontinuecs uatll
daylight. Then 1t is light enough to see the way home and the

party bresuis up} everybody hes to get home!l
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CHAPTER ¥IIX

REMINISCENRCES

Heéring cld timers tell gbout the past i1s fun, and there
are many locel people with interesting storiss to tell. ¥e
can't possibly visgit them all, but let’'s get ecquainted with
some of the children and grandchildren of the flrst settlers!
They are fins people, a eredit to thelir ploneer ancestors.

But, first, let us finlish ths story of Zugene and Mery
Skinner:

Eugene, never hale cnd heerty, caught cold while working
to save hls belongings in the flood of 1861, and wes naver
woll sgaln. He died in December, 1386li, at the age of fifty-
flve, and wes buried in thé old ¥aanonlec cemetery.

Mery, left alone by Fugene's death, marrled a sea captaln,
¥. L. Peckard, in 1867. Ceptain Packerd, born in Halne, had
spent many years at sea. His first yesr in Oregon wes spent
in Gardiner City, on the Umpqua ﬁiver. The next year (1365)
he came to Lugene City to llve. Ysry Peckard died in 1881
ené was buried in the gkinner lot in the H¥asonlc cemetsary.

Of the Ikinner children Yary, the eldest daughter, died
at thg ege of fourteen years, and Leonore at fifteen. Phoebe

married John Xinsey from 'iew York and had three dsughters.

Amella married ¥r. Combs. 3t. John marrisd Amenda 7alton and

R
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they had flve ehildren: Leonora, Pugene ¥. II, #Ann, Lore,
end aggle May. Only the grandson, iugene Franklin Skinner IX

now lives in Bugene.

Sugens Fyanklin Skinner II. Xr. Bugene Franklin Skinner 11,

grandscﬂ of the founder of Zugene, operates the popecorn atand
st the Irish and Swertz Westalde Shopplng Center. Hs 1s the
only son of 3t. John and Amanda {¥alton} Skinner, end wes born
in the white house which still stsnds in a grove of fir trees
at the northern end of Yonroe Strest, on October 25, 187L.

In 18382 his fawily declded to meve to Snokane, Washington.
They losded thelr household goods in a wegon and drove to Port-
lend, took s boat from therc to Umatills Landing on the
Columbla, end drove the rest of the way to Spokane. This wes
shortly after the Custer Yessacrs asnd ths Indians in seastern
¥eshington, liks the tribss {urther ssst, were rsesgtless and
dlascontented, so the United “tatess government edvised the
white motilers to get out of thet ssctlon for swhille,

The Siinners moved bsck to Lane County for tws ysars,
aettling in the vieinity of ¥est oint, at the foot cf the
Coburg Hills.

In 138L they went back to the “pokene eountry. This time
they went by wey of the nowly openad ¥c{enzle Pass road. The
Journey 1in thelr heavily loedsd wagon took thirty days. Hr.
tkinner remembers passing by the slle of the “hitman “iasion

at %*alilatpu and of seeing the lonely unmerked greves of the

i g -
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Whitmans and the others who were massacred with them.
Eugene came back to Eugene to live with his unele, Judge
¥alton, and continued hiskschooling. He went to the fGeary
school first and later to the Central school on West 1llth.
Hls last teacher there was Miss Ann Whiteaker, daughter of b
Oregon's first state governor. (Miss Whiteaker dled in 1950 3 
at the ege of ninety-one years.) |
¥r. Skinner married Miss Fmma Furbush in 1898 and they
had a famlly of nine children~-seven boys and two girls.
Thelr oldest son, Fugene Frenklin Skinner III entered
the service during;the first World War. He cams back from
France safely, married, and lived in Colorado for awhile before
his untimely death at the ege of twenty-seven years. Although

he hed a daughter, he left no son to ecarry on the honored nams. ;

Ero

BETRLIT I

Another relative of the Skinners, who rendered valuable
ald in the preparation of thls study,is Miss Pauline Walton

of Eugene. For many years she was in charge of the Oregon

Collection at the University of Oregon library. She 1s a
cousin of Mr. Eugene F. Skinner II. Her father, Judge Yalton,
was & brother to Mrs. fmande Skinner.

Darwin Bristow. Darwin Bristow, grandson of ¥lijsh

Bristow, was born December 21, 1862, In a little log cabin
near Pleasant Hill, His father, ¥illism Wilshire Bristow,
was the first teacher in the first school in Lene County, at

Plsasant H11ll, end his mother, Fllzabeth (Coffey) Briatow

4
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later tsught in that pame school,
Nr, Bristow ettended the local achools s&nd was grsdusted
from the Unlvaraity of Oregon in 138L. ¥hile 1n college the

young student spent hils summers working 2s & ccwboy on the

-
phod

cattle ranches in sastern Oregon, 3 : i

ATter graduating from the Universlty ¥r. Bristow marrled

Ylss Ysry ¥edley, became @ maichanb in Cottage Grove, end

finally went iato the benking business. %hile 1llving in

Cottage Grove he served ss msyor of the town three terms.

In 190L ths Eristows snd thelr femily of four daughters

snd two 2ons moved to Yugene, ¥pr. Frank Chambers and lr.

Erlstow orgenized the Chambers-Sristow Zank which later bocame

the Flrat ¥etionsl gan&. ¥y, PBristow served as vice-preslident

of this benk untll his retirement in 1952, ‘

Illness now conflnes him to his home on Lazrence Streaet,

B R

where he lives with his dasughters Grote, fHelen, snd Lvelyn.
Helen $3 an active worker in the "¥elcoms “agon” group which
welcomes naw resldents to Fugene.

Harrlotta Patterson. ‘ilss Harristte Patterson, daughter

of Bugencts first doector, lives In the femily hems on zast 1lth.

the relates many Interesting stories {rom her family's hilatory.
Her mother, Ananda C. Olinger, came to Oregon from Iowa et

the ege of aix years, with her psrents snd gramndiperents, in the

great lmmigration of 1843, with tarcus ¥hitman as the guide

{

end Jesse /pplogate as one of the leadsrs.
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Her father, Dr. Andrew W. Patterson, was a graduate of
the College of Plttsburgh. iis first wife and baby dled In
the Zast and he took the trall to Oregon in 1852. Thils was
the year when cholera first took such & toll of the emigrants,
but Dr. Patterson got here safely. He took up a homestead i
west of Eugene, and shortly afterward at Eugene Skinner's
request he surveyed s site for/the new town. In 1859 he aﬁd
Amenda C., whom he met when she was here on a visit, were
married. They had & famlly of eight ehildren,of whom Harriette
is thé youngest. |
Ur. Patterson, besides being a pnysieisn, a surveyor,'a
soldier 1n the Indilan Yers, and a state legislator, was inter-
ested 1in educationf He gsrved as county school superintendent
and wrote language, spelling and medical textbooks. _ :
During the great flood of 1861-2 the Pattersons stayed
at Hilyard Shaw's cabin,located where the ¢ity gas plant is
now. The only piece of land nearby thet was not coversed by
weter was the strip where 11th Street 1s, so that was the spot
Dr. Patterson later chose for nls home. (The present house
was bullt in 1903, just a year before the doctor died.) The
deed to the land dates back to 1863. Dr. Patterson planted
the two fir trees, which st1ll stand, in front of the house
when he began practlicing medicine agaln, after taking time out
for other occupations. (The first settlers were too healthy

to need the full-time services of a doctorl)
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Miss Patterson tells of walking from her home over to the
slough, erossing ié, over to Day Island, then taking a skiff
across the Willamette to Patterson Island, which was a popular
plenie spot, The flood of 1890-91 chsnged the course of the
river %o the channel it now\folldws, snd 1in so dolng it covered
six acres of Dr. Patterson's hop yard.

Alder Strcet, in earller times, was a county roed, then
i1t became known as "A" Street, and finally at the suggestion
of Ida Patterson (Harrlette's sister), it was named Alder
Street, because of the many alders whlch grew along the mill-
race.

Dr. Patterson often hsd occaslon to be out late at night,
making calls on sick people, and his wife would place a lamp
in the window to help mark the way home. She could tell when
he was coming from the west because Prior Bleir's hounds would
set up a terrific basying 23 he passed the Blalr place on the
outsklrts of town, now Blair Avenus.

During the amsllpox epldemles the doctor kept en extra
suit of eclothes in the barn so that he could cut down the riak
of carrying the disease home by changing clothes before goling
Into the house, Once, to ¥rs. Patterson's dlsmey, she czaw
the two younger boys perading around out on the wcod plle
dressed 1n thelr father's "dcctoring-clothes!"

The Patterson home, with 1ts antlque furniture, massive

old grand plano, the textbooks which the doctor wrote, and
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other relics and.souvenirs of the past, 1s a fascinating place
tao visit. 1In the attic there is a feether bed, and Miss
Patterson tells of en Incident which happened to her mother on
the Trall which concerns either thls bed or one like 1t. The
wagen traln had to ford & river, and, as part of the srrange-
nents for a sefe crossing, one of the men tled a fcather bed
on the back of & pony and put Amenda C. én it. On the way
ecross the pony lost its footing when 1% stepped intc deep
water, and was swept downstream, but 1t end 1its paésenger were
saved by the fact that the feather bed held them up until they

could be rescued.

%lss Patterson had private teachers and didn't go to school

until she was twelve years old, when she began sitending the
Central Public School. GShe completed her high school and col-
lege work both at the Cniversity cf Oregon, gradueting 1in 1903.

Eugene has been her home continuously. She has left 1t
only to take trips, ineluding three to Alaska. In 1937, on a
five-weeks' cruise which took them as far north and west as
Esst Cape, Russia, she and her sister Ida (who had taught
school 1n Eugene for forty-five years) continued the family
tradition of traveling westward.

Lester (Gllbert Hulln. Lester Hulin (Senior)}, llke Eugene

Skinner, was born in New York. He attended schools there,
then struck out on his own in 1841, going to Iowa, where he

taught school. In 1845 he joined Col. John C. Fremont who
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headed & government exploring expedition to Californla. The
next year he returned toc Missouri with Lt. Abert, of the
expedition. 1In 1847 he joined an emigrent trein bound for
Oregon, and the caravan, which‘included the Belknsaps, Gillberts,
Sterrs, Hawleys, and other well-kneown eariy settlers, entered f* »
Oregon by way of the Applegata’Trail. The diary which Hulln
kept of the journey 13 & fascinating sccount of the trip and i{
conteins many sketches of famous landmarks along the way. ' 1&%
Hulin filed agﬁlaim upon 320 scres of lsnd northwest of Eugene
in the Riverview section, but almost immediately he was lured
to California by the gold rush. He worked in the mines for
awhile, then freighted goods between Sacramento and the mlnes. i
He started back to Oregon on the Steamer "Hackstaff" which
was shipwrecked at thse maﬁth of the Rogue Hiver. Along with
thirtj other survivors he came overland to the Willamette
Valley, where he began Improving his farm lend.

In June, 1853 a young lady nemed Abigail Creig arrived {

here with her parents, having come frum Michigan by way of

the Isthmus of Panama. The young people met, and after a o

brief courtship, were married in December, 1853, by Reverend
Robert Robe. ' . :

They were entitled to an additionsal donstion land claim i

of three hundred twenty acres when they got married, but that ;

g
seemed to them to be more than they needed, so they did not : ;j
claim i1t. (In later‘'years they moved to fugene. ) j‘
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Nine ehildrengwere born to the Hullins, one of whom wes
Lester Gilbert, born January 1lj, 1873. This son has lived 1n
the Riverviewfseetion'and in Eugene most of his seventy-elght
years, and has seen Eugene grow from a small villagse to a
modern ocity.

He asttended the publle schools and the University of Ore-

gon, from which he graduasted in 1896 in a class of 20 studsnts.

He recalls that University life was quite sedate then. Stu- "
dentas ran out of money then, too. InAfaee, Leater had.tc
borrow three hundred dollars to finish school. The person
from whom he borrowed the money was John Whiteaker, who had
been Oregon's first state governor.

As & young man ¥r. Hulin worked at various jobs. One of

his first poéitions wag that of clerk in a grocery store. He

g

worked from 6:00 e.m. to 10:00 p.m. for twenty-five cents a
day. This pay was later incresesed to fifty cents per dsy. i
When he beéame cashier Iin the local bank he recelved fifty lg
dollars per month.

Mr. Hulin remembers hearing Henry Villard make a speech

in Deady Hall in 1882 ebout the future of the University. 1In
188y the Hulins went on Villard's Northern Pacific Reilroad's :
pionesr excursion trip from Portland to dhicago. Lester
recalls that the passengers slept on the seats, made thelr
own coffee and cooked their mesals on wood stoves 1in the rea:

of the cears.
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Mr. A. G. Walling, who wrote the "Illustrated Hlstory of
Lane County," ecslled on the Hulins often, interviewing the
elder Mr, Hulln asbout early times, and the father and son toock
Mr. Walling with their horse and buggy around to csll on other
ploneers.

In 1915 Mr. and Nrs. Hulin and their son (their only
child) took an automobile trip to Californis to the San Fran-
cisco and San Diego Expositions. Such a trip was not to be
undertaken lightly in those days. At a speed of 15 miles an
hour and under difficult driving conditions they were lucky to
get to San Franclsco in & week. The trip to San Dlego took
enother week. There they heard President Theodore Roosevelt
deliver a stirring speech, and were near him later in a group
that was standing before an exhibit, listening to a mechanically-
played violin which was playing the President's favorite tune.

Cal Young. One of Eugene's best-loved cltlzens 1s Cal
Young, a distinguished looking man of eightﬁ yeers, with
twiniling blue eyes, ruddy complexion, snowy white hair, and
e friendly smile.

The history of his femlly, as 1t spplles to our Eugene
history, began in Missourl in 1852, at a time when the "Oregon
fever" was sweeping the country. In thet frontler reglon two
young people, Charles Walker Young and Mollle Cillesple met,

fell in love, eloped and were married, in February, 1852.

Mollie's father, Reverend Jecob Gillesple, was . smong those
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who had the "Oregon fever." He wanted some of the rich leand
to be had in Oregon. He, like meny other Missourlans, had
Negro slaves, and he wrote out to Oregon to Joseph Lane, the
territorial governor, to ask 1f he could bring a Negro coupls
with him to Oregzon. Lane anawered that he could bring the
young woman but not the man, since it was against the law to
bring a Hegro man into the territory.

In Marech, 1852, just & month after their marrisge; the
Youngs jéined the Gillespies and others in a wegon traih legv-
ing Independance, Missouri, for Oregon. Rev., Glllesple became
the captein of the train, which msde the trip aeross the plailns
and mountains safely, reaching the Columbla River in late
August.

The maln party rafted down the Columbla, but Walker
Young and some other men took the cattle and stoeck over the
difficult Barlow Trail eround ¥t. Hood, rejolning their com-
panlons leter at Oregon City.

While their families visited with friends at Oregon Cilty .
Mr. Gillesple and Mr, Young csme on poAies up along phe foot-
hills of the Willamette Valley looking for good homesites,
even as Skinner and Bristow had done in 18L46. They found most
of the best free land taken. They liked the looks of Abraham
Peek’s "squatter clalm" of 640 scres, and bought it from him
for $800. Walker Young, as part payment for his share, pald

$50 in money and gave a team of oxen worth §150. A few years

o A k. Yot
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_couple set up housekeeping in a log cabin nearby, and the ;H

89

later when an o0ld Indlan demsnded payment for the.land which
the white men had taken from his people Walker psid him what
he asked--a& gunny-sack full of dried peas!

The two men returned to Oregon Clty and moved thelr famllles
and belongings, including two bushels of seed wheat bought from : ;:
the Hudson's Bay bompany, to their new home on the_Willamette.

When they arrived here Walker had fifteen centé in cash,

but was fifty cents in debt to his father-in-law for the ferry s

crossing charge et the Spores ferry (near Coburg). The young

Glllespies lived in thelr wagon while thelr cabin was being 'S
built. Molly and Walker were hard workers and 1t wasn't long S
before they began to "get ahead in the world.” Walker worked
for $1.50 a day for Mr. Briggs in Springfield, and Mollie
earned ¢1.00 a day working for Mrs. Briggs.

The Springfield vicinity was known briefly as "Scanty-

Grease." It seems that some hounds ste the lard that was stored 1

in ¥Mr. Brigg's smoke-house and M4r. Bri-gs rode over to hils
nelghbors on the Game Farm to borrow lard, saying they were : §

scant-o-grease at hls place!

The countryslde presented qults a different appesarance
in those days from what it does now. There were few settlers--
the Tandys and the Harlows, who had been nelghbors of the
Glllespies in Missourl, had settled near them. There was no

underbrush in the Valley; the Indians kept the land burned




B o T T T P e T R O TR R T e e e

20

over quite regularly. Only big firs, pines, end oaks grew
here and there. Wild life was sbundsnt, especlally ducks and
geese. The Indiens. dug for camas roots in the lowlands. From
fifty to- one hundred might be seen at one tims gathering a
| supply of these roots.
Once ¥alker visited a dug-out on Gillesple Butte where
an Indlan was lying sick. An Indian medicine men was there,

walling and performing varilous magic.fites which were intended

to drive the evil spirits out of the sick‘man. Using two bones,

this native doector put a burning coal of fire on the Indian's
! neck and after some hocus~-pocus pulled out what appeared to be
" a long worm. Mr. Young sew that it was ,ectuslly a plece of
rubber, and he told the sick Indian that he was belng "gypped”
1f he pald the ten ponies which the medicine man was demsnding
as a fee. The medicine man left without the ponles, and the
patisnt finally recovered from the "operation.”

In October, 1853, just about a yesar after the Youngs
srrived here, word spread among the settlers one evening that
e wagon train was attempting to make its way down the Willa-
mette Pass, Two men, living at But?a Disappointment (Lowell)
had seen thé smoke of a campfire and, upon investigating’.had
found & starving men who was trying desperately to get to a
settlement to get help for his family and friends whom he had
left behind along the river. He sald they were part of a lost

wagon traln which hed been searching for a shorter way into
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the Willemette Valley. The guide who had started out with
them from The Dalles had deserted them when they became loat,
due to storms, and their provisions began to run low. }

By daylight the settlers, Walker Young smong them, were
on thelr way up the Willamette. They found the pitiful bend
of emigrants afoot, and, while some of the rescuers looked
after the starving people, others went back to Big Prairle »'L
(Oakridge) to get the waegons which had from necessity been ' s
abaAdoned. They found that Indians had gotten there befdre i
them and had burned the wagons. (A stone marker was set up
in 1950 on the Willamette honoring this lost train.)

The rescuers loaded the emigrants into their wagons and

headed for home. There was no road. They followed the river,

and 1t was rough going. Within the space of a mile they
crossed the Willamette twenty-six times.

Walker brought with him ¥r. and Mrs. James Breeding and
thelr children, who later settled near here.l {(The first school
which Eugene children asttended was bullt on thelr donstion
claim.) |

(In that seme rescue party was Danlel Hunsaker, & bachelor,
vho later married Mary Williams, one of the young girls 1in the
lost train. They had seven children, some of whom are living ﬁi

in Eugene. One of them, Mrs. Willlam Preston, lives on Pearl

Street snd 1s ninety years old. Mary Willlams' father, Thomas,

1s aleo mentlioned in the story about Ellls Parker, which




follows this one.)

Mentlon has already been made of the disastrous floods
which are a matter of historical record. The Youngs and all
the other settlers along the river lost valuesble hay and grass
which they needed for winter feed for thelr stock. Finally
Mr. Young vowed that never egsin would he run the risk of not
having,enough.hayktobfeed his stock through the winter, and
at the next harvest he stored seventy or eighty tons of timothy
hey, leboriously cut with a hand scythe, in the barn, intending
to leave 1t Indefinitely. That hay 1s still there, after
seventy years of more!

You may wonder what became of the Wegro woman who came
West with the emigrants. She merried e Negro barber and moved
to San Francisco, where #¥r. Young, whenever he wes iIn the eity,
vislted with her. |

Like most ploneer couples, Walker and iollie had a large
femily--eight daughters and thres sons. Mollle dled in 1909
and Welker, In 1917. They are burled in the family cemstery
on Gillegple Butte.

Cal Mareellus, thelr n;nth child, spent his first school
days at the Bogart distrlct school (later Willakenzie) 1In the
neighborhood, where he was one of a roomful of 75 puplls. He
came 1lnto town to the Central Publloc school later, and when

he was 15 years old, he attended the Bishop Scott Academy 1n

Portland. He spent five years there as a student snd two years




&3 a tesascher. -

Mr., Young engaged in variéua activities, such as operat-
ing & meat market, working in the Blﬁe River mines, and
managing the Hellig Theater, but he deecided that he preferred
farming on the old home place, where he and ¥rs. Young live
now, respected and honored by all who know them.

Mr. Young's son and two desughters are scattered far from
" the home plsce. The son, Walker Ford Young, 1s & geologlst
for an oll company in British Honduras. One daughter 1ls a
_harplst with the Duluth Symphony Orchestra in Duluth, Minne-
sota, and the other one lives in Connecticut, where her hus-
band 13 part owner of an immenae toj factory.

Er. Young has entered wholeheartedly into the life of the
community. One project which he has backed unceasingly since
the £1irst Oregon Trall Psgeant in 1926 1s the building of e
sultable pioneer museum in Zugene, and it now appears that the
first part of this project will soon be accomplished.

£llis R. Parker. Mr. Ellls Rutledge Parker, who lives

on West 12th, has been a teacher in Lane County for,sixty
years. Now, at the sge of 82, he reminisces with pleasurs
over the events of the past.’

The story of his parents3 coming to Oregon is interesting,
end like others we have read, yet different.

His father, Joseph Parker, and a twin slister, Selenla,

were born in Ohic in 183lL, into a typically'large plonseer
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femily. In the 1840's the family losded their goods into a
wagon and moved westward throﬁgh Indlana to Illinols, where
they settled on some rich river bottom lend. Here they suf-
fered greatly from'fevar~and ague and finally from cholera,
which took the lives of the mother and father within a two-
wsek perlod.

The younger children were scattered among the relatives,

and in 1853 Joseph and Selenia startsd to Oregon with their
~ married sister and her husband who had the "Oregon fever."
They left St. Joseph, Missouri ia April and followed the well
marked Oregon Trall without undue hardshlps. The Indlans
were somewhat of a nulsance but Gld them no harm. One Pawnee .
chleftaln wanted to buy a young girl, Caroline Rutledge, offer-
Ing 100 ponies for her, but his offer was not accepted.

#¥hen the train reached the last ocrossing of the Snake
River in eastern Oregon one group of emigrants, led by Thomas
%¥1lllams, broke sway from the maln caraven and headed due
west, intending to locate the source of the Willametts River
end follow it down into the Willamette Valley, figuring that
would be a deslrable short cut. It was thls group, sometlmes
spoken of es the "starvation party of 1853" whileh Walker Young
and other settlers went out from Eugene to help when word came
thet some emlgrents were on their way down the ¥1llamette in

a starving and desperate condition, in Qctover, 1853.

The remaincder of the emigrants 1n the wapgon trsin reached




Oregon City sefely in the meantime and cogtinued on up the
71llamette until they resched Pleasant Hill. Here they settled,
end here, & few years later, Caroline Futledge and Joseph |
Parker were married, in a ceremony performed by Justice of the
Peace Elijah Bristow. They spent the rest of thelr lives in

the vicinity'of Dexter, and are burled 1n the Pleasant Hill

cemstery.

Their second son, Ellis Rutledge, was born in 1869. He

began teaching 1h:thé7nearby couﬁtry'schaolyand continued that
career for sixty years. In 1889 he married Rose Holbrook and
they hed a famnlly of six children. When the older ehiidren
reached high school age the family moved to Eugene (1907). Mr.
Parker was elected principal of the Geary school &nd seéerved in
that position for twenty-six yeesrs. He later taught at White-

elter school, which was ‘so named at his sugzgestion, and at

Jasper and Alvadore. He retired from teaching in 1945, and
ha well deserves the praise, "Well done, thou good and faith-

ful servant.?
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Personal Interviews

The writer has interviewed the following people several
times in the period from 1945 to 1951 in the course of gather-
ing reminiseences &nd background material:

ﬁiss Pauline Walton
¥r. end Mrs. Eugene Skinner II
Mr. Darwin Bristow an@ daughters Helen and Evelyn
Mr. and Mrs. Cal Young
Mr. and Mrs. Lester G. Hulin
Migss Harrlette Patterson
¥rs. Frank L. Chambers
Mr. E1113 Parker
The writer saw most of the landmarks mentlomed during a trip

made slong the route of the Oregon Trall in August, 1949.
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APPENDIX A
COMMENTS FOR TEACHERS

The first unit of study in Seventh Grade}sdci#l Scienoe
in the Eugene public schools at the beginning of the year 1is
Orientation, through which the student becomas acquainted
with his classmates, learns the teachers! names, gets acquainted

with the Junior High schocl;eourse of study, and becomes ac-

customed to the routine, féQuirementa, and stendards of the

school.

This booklet 1s offered as a source of ﬁaterial for the
uhit co#ering‘é period of two or three weeks which should con-
nect the Orientation unit, or the study of the immediate sur-
roundings, and the study of Oregon and the Pacific Northwest,
which constitutes the main topiec of study in the soclal science
course in thig grade. The educational principle, dating back

to Herbart and Dewey, of starting with what the student knows

and of branching out from there to the new and unfamillar ap-
plies very aptly in this case. The writer belleves that
through a study of loceal history, for which this material
attempts to furnish a background, snd through teaching from
the known, many studentg will develop keen interest in thelr
immediate environment, in‘the forces which prompted the set-

tling »f our area, and in the personalities of the ploneer

settlera. This interest, once stirred, may easily develop
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into a keener understanding of our state and national heritage.
Through this aépréach the ééVénth{grade’Studént becomes ori-

ented to hils school surroundings, then to his community, and,

finally, he gets a broad over—all picture of the Pacific North-

west as an integral part of our nation. In succeeding grades
he studies, on a. still broader scope, the natlon ahd the world.
To phrase this in'the studants’ language,‘by means of
this spproach they begin "to get what it's all about"; to
reallize that history 1sn*t just somsthing one reads in a book,
but that the pioneers, for instance, were merely people like
ourselves--some good, some bad} some educated, some illiterate;
some well-to-do, some poor; some hale and hearty, and some
sickly--seeking to better their living conditions by moving
to & new location whers there was a chance to get free land,
where there was a milder climate, and where the many rivers
and the Pacifle Ocean offered trade outlets. Some peoplé came
west out of curlosity and for the adﬁenture of the trip. Some
came because their friends or relatives who had already mig-
rated urged them to come. There was in the air, too, the mat-
ter of "possession being nine points of the law" in the dis-
pute betwsen the United 3tates and Great Britain over the
boundary between the Oregon Country and British territory.
Since many of the students will no doubt have moved around a

great deal they can appreciate the motives which prompt

people to move. They are in a position to maké valuable
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contributions to c¢lass dlacussions through having seen many
of the places around which the account centers.
The writer has used the present material in essentlally
this form for trial purposes for the past two years with a
total of one hundred forty students. The attitudes of enthusl-
asm, interest, and understanding displayed in connection with
this subject by the students (which has cerried over to the
homes) encourage her to believe the booklet fills a real need
in 2 fleld in which the only other history book availablé is
A. G. Walling's "Illustrated History of Lane County," published
in 188&, whieh 13 suited to adult readers, and which is now
out of print. |
Students understand and remember best what interests them,
and they normally find a study of the place in which they live
quite intersesting. The information in the booklet will prob-
ably best be used by teacher and pupils through the method of
regding-and~discussion, supplemented by:
(2) Pleld-trips to places of historical 1nterest, such
as the one for which an itinerary 1is suggested (at
the conclusion of the section, "Comments for Teach~
ers™).
(b) By inviting into the clessroom as speskers local
descendants of ploneers, or by e¢alling upon them at
their homes in eclass-arrangei visits.

(¢c) By use of any supplementary audio-visual material
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students or teachers may bring in, such as plctures,

models, exhibits, relics.
(d) By visits to the Oregon Collection at the University
- Library.-

Reading, spalling, and coral and written lahguage work can be
integrated with this unit very eclosely. Thers are unlimited
opportunities for teschers to adjust the study to fit indivi-
dual differences among the students, which 1s another reason
why students enjoy 1t.

From this community study it is to be hoped that students
will not only learn some history but also that they will devel-
op attitudes of respect and appreciation for the foundatlons
laild by the pioneers and a sense of perspective as to thelr

own roles as future e¢itlzens.

history. Perhaps some day someone will write an asuthentic

history of the intervening years, but, in the meantims, talks
with old~timers, informatlion eontributed by the students?
families (particularly by the grandparents) and data published
in annlversary editions of the local newspaper may serve &s
sources of falrly recent local history.

The present should not be neglected--a teacher in this

]

field should by all means acquaint herself es to the present
state of affalrs in Eugene concerning the government, the

schools, and other topics of importance, and should share this
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knowledge with her studenta. To be surs, it 1s desirable for
them to do much of the necessary bresez:eh thsxselves, with the
teacher leading the way, and, in the czss cZ & tsacher new to
the community, this would be most desirabls.
 Since the Skinners and Bristow kept no svailable record
of the events, routes, caravan membérs, and other details about
the migration end the choosing orf- a location for & new home,
the writer hag gathered the data froam variczs sources:
(a) From many books, periodicals, dlsriss, and journals.
(b) Through eorrespondence with iztsresied persons In
various states concerning Orezon T—ail history.
(c) Through interviews with deseendsmis of local pioneers.
From a trip along the route cf ths Jregon Trall,
taken in August, 1949, in which =cst of the landmarks
mentioned were wislted.
None of these sources in themsalyss ec=stitute reference
material suited to the seventh grade interest and abillty level.
From informetion furnished in lerzs pe=t by the persons
mentioned in the preface the writer has teez able to find suf-
ficlent references to the Skinner-Bristow perty in other Trail
| ~ records to furnish the essentlal infor=zsticm ss to their start-
ing, the journey, their breaking off from iks =aln group at
Fort Hall, their arrival at Fort Sutter, and their departure

i from there.

In Lockley's "Recollections of Ben{sxin Zczney” there 1s
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Fellx Scott, Jr., and about the Scotts and Skinners traveling

an account of the Bonney party which lists the Skinners and
Dodson as members of the group which broke off from the mein
group at Fort Hall and went to Fort Sutter, end also mentions
the Skinners as coming north to Oregon when the Bonneys did,
in 18L6.

Julia Veazlie Glen, a relative of John Lyle, tells in J i
"John Lyle and Lyle Farm" about John marrying a sister of ‘{‘

together on the Trail. R ' ]

"New Helvetia Diary," kept by Sutter and his clerks at !
Fort Sutter from 1845 to 1848, contains entries listing the
arrivals of the Skinners, Bristow and the Scotts; mentions
their activities around the fort; and lists theif deparﬁuresf 'ff

Sarah Hunt Steeve's "Book of Remembrances of Marlon %f
County, Oregon Pioneers, 18/;0-1860"% includes the story "A :
Pioneer Boy, 18,6," which is an account of the experiences of
James Leighton Collins, who spent part of ths winter of 1846-7
in Skinner's cabin with two other men. V _

Tolbert Carter's "Ploneer Days"” 1s a record of his party's

" trip across the plains, and of their coming into Oregon by the

Applegate Trall. It verifies the presence of the Skinner eabin
here in 1846. There has been some dispute as to whether Skinner
built his cebin in 1846 or in 1847. The writer believes that

a cabin was bullt in 1846 and tha* the Skinner family first
came to start housekesping in 1t in the spring of 1847. -




The four men--Bristow, Skinner, Dodscn, &2 Scott--who
ars mentioned most were not necesssrily togszilsr 211 the time.
or all the way. That they were togathzr» hsrs g=d there 1s
mentioned in the recofds listed.

Obviously the writer has had to swoply zezeral historical
information to f111 in the- geps left by the piszeer record-
keepers and to preserve the continuity cf i:e zeecunt. She
believes this information to be accurets &=2 iz accord with
the timses as thej were, according ta tks situdy she has mgde
of the subject.

The following additional authors f1ist=2 Iz ths bibllo-
graphy) wers referrsd to for accounts =f jcz>—=2ys zeross the
plains, made mostly before or about 12i%, cr =z:ouzt landmarks
elong the Trail--Bell, Bidwell, Delsns, Trizz:z, Trury, Ghent,
Greeley, Handsaker, Hastings, Jenscn, Johrmscz e=xd Finter,
Kerns, Meacham, Paden, end Palmer. ¥sxy other sources of
Trall material were found end consultzd tut Zzve not been
listed because 1t seemed desirable ts tszye t=2 1ist selectlve.

Mrs. Paden's "Wake of the Pralrfe Ichoo=:r" was most valu-
able as a source of refarence to ths wrizer Z= XZer trip over
the approximate route of tha Trail %=z 17.9, Zz—ishing as it
does historical information as well as recezt Zsta on the
landmarks. The writer interviewed zsme =f ths seme people
¥rs. Paden had contacted, and later esrres;oziai with Mrs.

Peden about various landmaris. ¥rs. Pzie=s 2z == wife of




Dr. Williem G. Paden, who was Superintendent of Schools in
Alameda, California, at the time the book was published (1943).
The Padens spent several summers doing Trail research and fol-
%owing wherever possible the exact route of the Trail.

The writer has carried on a conslderable amount of cor-
respondence with other people eontacted on the trip and in
regard to further data about various places and items.

The Indlans living in this vicinity were of the Calapoola
tribe, the name being spelled variously as Calapuya, Lakapoola,
of Kalspuya. Some of the Molallas from southegstern Oregon,
Just over the Cascades, bothered Mr. Bristow and neighbors by
trying to steal livestock occasionally.

The Indians commonly named seections of a river separately,
not calling the whole river by one name, hence the use of
"Multnomsh" for the northern part and "Willamette" for the
part south of the Falls at Oregon City.

The topics in "Incidents of the Times" and "Recreation,”
plus additionsl items, were dlscussed with groups of seventh-
graders, and the ones that appear were considered the most
likely to interest seventh-graders. The paragrsph about the
first council and mayor furnishes a loglical opportunity to
discuss the present administrative set-up in the city. 3tu-
dents find the contrast between the district sechools of 1875
and those of today quite interesting. The meaning of educa-

tion costs per pupil, of taxes, and of bond 1ssu§s becomes




quite real, in the light of changing circumstances.

The description‘of doctofihg and dental prectices ié a
general one, not intenaed to be specific for}ona certain doctor
or dentlst. |

The students' parents and grandparents are llkely to
recall rather vividly the kind of weskend deserlbed in Chapter
XII end they c¢an no doubt add muech of interest that has not
been 1ncluded.hera.

The reminiscenéee were gathered in the c;ﬁrSe of vislts
made by thé writer, accompanled by small groups of students,
to the homes of the persons mentioned, or from talks given
at school to seventh-grade classes by those'pérsons. The

notes were later read to or by them and any needed changes

or corrections were made according to their directions.
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Some Local Historical Spots of Interest

(Visited in the order given, this list could serve as

an itinerary for s trip beginning at the top of Skinner's
Butte and ending at the southern end of Harris Street,
and ineluding in the course of it a jaunt to Willegil-
lesple district, over the Springfield bridge, to Pleasant
Hill, to Cloverdale, snd back to Eugene.)

Top of Skinner's Butte, where Eugene Skinner found &

-eirele of stones marking the sgite of Indian ceremonial

dances, and from which spot he selected his donation land
clainm,

The two markers at the western base of the Butte, both¢

- marking the approximate location of Skinner's cabin. The

cabin stood about where the pile of sawdust is now, below

the old quarry, from which gravel was obtained for Eugene's

first paved streets.

The white house sitting out in a field end surrounded by

firs at the northern end of Monroe Street, belng the house

in which Eugene F. Skinner II was born.,

The white house at 260 West 6th where the founder dled.
The house has been remodeled. The location 1s easy to
identify by the ivy-covered fir-tree stumps standing in
front of the houss.

. The house at L82 Lawrencc where the first president of

the University (President Johnson) lived.
The home of Darwin Bristow at lj1l; Lawrence, an old-time
home, Iin what was once the new residentiasl section. Dar-

win Bristow 1s the grandson of El1jeh Bristow.
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The house which once bslonged to "Doc" Owsley, on the
alley between 1lljth and 15th near Pearl Street, & quaint
baleonied old home..

The building, said by some people to be the fourth oldest

building in Eugene, now standing in the block across the

street from the Central School 0Offiee, directly behind
the Salvatlion Army building on East 7th.

The Cal Young home, to which Cal's father moved in 1852,

on Cal Young Road, across the Ferry Street bridge. (Ask

at station.)

The site, one and one-half bloecks to the left of the east-

ern end of the Springrieid bridge and near a weeping willow

tree in that lot, where the sprihg-in-the-field was located,
from which the town of Springfleld got 1ts name.

Natural landmerks on the way to Pleasant Hill--

(a) MoVeigh Point, at south end (the top) of the overhead
aﬁova Willamette Park.

(b) Coryell Point, overlooking historicsl marker and forks
of Coast Fork and Eiddlé Fork of the Willamette.
Marker 1s for site of Cgryell cabin, first in that
vicinity.

Springfleld Butte, hill east of junction of Coast
and Middle Forks of the Willamette. |
Quarry site Just north of Goshen, where the new ove:r-

head 1s being bullt, where important fossil finds
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have been made of anclent ferns.

(e) Mt. Pisgah, big "baldy" hill east of Goshen, to the
left of the Willamette Highway (golng eastward).
Marker on highway at Pleasant Hill telling of Brilstow.
Site of Bristow's donétion elaim--to right off highway
(heading east) on the first main-traveled road after pass-
ing the church. Follow it to i1ts end, about one-half mile
off highway--gite of dabin was where the present house
stands, in the middle of the fleld.
Pleasant Hill cemetery--a few blocks further east on
Willamette Highway. In the cemetery are to be found the
graves of many ploneer settlers, and a plaln large un-
mgrked rock midway between the cemetery road and the high-

way on the west side marks the site of the first school-

‘house in Lene County.

To go past the former home of John Whitesker, first govern-
or of the state of Oregon, go to the right off the highway
on the maln-traveled roed Just across and slightly east

of the cemetery and, keeping to the right on the more-
traveled roads, head for Cloverdsle. (If in doubt, keep

to the right.) This should lead down into Cloverdals

‘Valley past a white farmhouse located on the left of the

road Just over the brow of the hill, about three quarters
of a mile from the pighway, and that 1s the former White-

aker place. From 1t the roed leads on down 1into the valley,
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where 1t eonnects with another main road. Turn right on
it and follow it to the Willamette Hlghway at the Coast
?ork bridge. o

Back in Eugene--on the corner of 19th and Olive, up on
College Hill, is a merker showing the location of Columbla
College, Eugenet!s first college, built in 1855; twice P
destroyed by fire, and finally esbandoned. ‘ ;
The o0ld Masonic¢ cemetery--at the south end of University
St;eat, vwhere the Skinners, Whiteakers, and other well- 4
known people of early days are burled. : P
Site at the southern end of Harrls Street where the first

school was located, on the knoll.




APPENDIX B.

' SOURCES AND VALIDITY OF DATA

Assembling these data would have been a never-ending, 1f

~not an impossible task, except for the assistance of Miss
Pauline Walton. Being a relative of the Skinners (a cousin
of Eugene F. Skinner II) snd & long-time resident of Eugene,
she 1s deeply interested in pioneer history. Not only 1s.
she keenly interested--she has read widely on the subject{
and in her position ss librarian of the Oregon Collection,
which she held for many years, she had access to and helped
acquire for the University Library much of the material that
is now on file in the Oregon Room. It was through her kind

assistance that the essential data embodied in the account

of the Skinners and Bristow became known to the writer. Miss

Walton has read and approved this account of the emigration
and the selection of land claims.

It 1s unfortunate, from the historical standpoint, that
so few of the ploneers kept dsy-by-day journals, but 1t 1s
also understandable why they did not, considering the difri-

culties under which they traveled, and the fact thet they did

not all realize at the time the historical importance of thelr

great westward movement.

The data are scarce and scattered. There is no one com-

plete record written at that time of the Skinner-Bristow trip
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to California and Oregon. The writer has had to f1ll in much
historical data, as has been noted in "Comments for Teachers.”
Data were aecumulated by careful study of related sources--
by following clues as to references located sometimes unex-
pectedly in seemingly unrelated material, and through the kind-
ness of intereated persons, such as Mr. Lester Hulin,‘forf
instance, who allowed the writer access to his personal copy
of Mrs., Kinsey's unpublished record. Personal observations
made by the writer on her trip over the approximatse route of
that sectlon of -the Trall from Independence, Missouri to Rarft
River, Idaho, were valuable in heiping her to visualize the
problems faced by the emigrants. If, perchance, it should
seem to the reader that the section relating to the Trall has
been over-emphasized the writer can only say that she herself
is keenly interested in Trall history and geography, that
there is a wealth of data avaeilable about the Trall, and that
storles asbout the Trall have a tremendous appeal to most stu-
dents. Much of thils material about the landmarks has not been
avallable at thelr reading level before. |
The wrlter retraced the remainder of the Trail from Idaho
to Oregon City 1n 1950, but, not having been over the route
from Raft River to Fort Sutter, she was forced to rely entirely
upon the accounts supplied by travelers and writers, such as
Bidwell, Bonney,/Dolano, Hastings, Greeley, and Paden, who did
traverse that sedtion, some of them in the 1840's and 1850's




and Mrs. Paden in the 1930's end 1940's.

Much correspondence has been carried on by the writer
with interested persons about Trail history,-includiﬁg the
Historicsl Societies of the varlous "Trall" states; Mr. R. R.
Stuart of "Western Americana®™, San Leandro, Californiaj; Mr.
Fred Stratton, South Pass City, Wyoming, who has written book-
lets on the history of South Pﬁss; Mr. Otto Wullschleger,
Frankfort, Kensas, who, as an active member of the American
Pioneer Trails Assocclation, has traveled over the route and
has studied sections of it intenaively; and many others, in-
cluding Mr. Adolph Tenopir of Marysville, Kensas, the taxi-
driver who took the writer and her family in his taxi ﬁo Alcove
Spring, a few miles out of Marysville, on a side trip that -
lagted three hours.

Through correspondence with Mrs. Irene Paden, author of
"Wake of the Pralrie Schooner" in October, 1949, the writer
learned about a Latter Day Salnts Historical Record (Jenson,
ed.) of 1890, whieh told of the invention of a roadameter, or
odometer, first used by the Mormons to record mileage on the
Trail, and she was ables to borrow the record from the Church
Offices in Salt Lake Clty, Utsh. In the same letter Mrs.
Paden mentlioned the "New Helvetla Diary" and offered to send
quoted excerpts from 1t, which she did in a letter of November
25, 1949. She had copled them from the diary in the Bancroft

Library at Berkeley, and they concerned Bristow, Skinner, and
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Scott. The present writer, through the University Library,
fins11ly obtained a copy O6f the diary from the Portland Library
Assceiation.

¥Imy of the references appear in the form of "recollec-
tions™, written years after the events transpired, which means
thet there is & greater possibility of error than i1f the source
were & dlary or a daily journal. "The Recolléctions,of Ben ja-
min 7. Bonney" by Loeckley, for inatance, tell about the Bonney
family crossing the plains to California and then coming to
Oregen. Benjamin was only a boy when the trip was made, and
the *recollections” were written when he was an old men. The
person wvho collects and publishes the reminiscences may pos-
sibly become opinionated or prejudiced on the subject of plon-
eers snd ploneer history and may lose the objective point of
view in reporting, and this further effects the reliability
of sueh materiel.

¥any of the more scholarly accounts, such as Walling's,
wrltten In the literary style of the 1800t!'s are overly dramatic,
flowsry, and verbose, rather than being strictly historical.

In the writer's opinlon one of the best pileces of Trall
reporting which she has had access to, done on the way to
Oregen by local pioneers, was the dlary of Mr. Lester Huliln,
3r. It contalns some excellent sketches of landmarks. An-
other diary, that of John Kerns (uncle of Mrs. Frank Chambers),

is en interesting commentary on his trip, written in what




might be termed the modern msanner.
There are occasional inaccurscies in the sources. In
?alling's "Illustrated Histofy of Lene County, Oregon," for

example, he says on page 325: "Skinner . . . returned and

‘built the eabin in the spring of '47." On page 332 he says

Skinner bullt a cabin in 1846 and "in May, 'L47 he removed his

famlly to the ¢abin and bécame the first settler in Eugene ;
City. . . ." Various reports appear to confirm the presence

of the cabin heré in 18446, namely those of Carter, Kinsey, iﬁ
Steeve, "Early Morning Reglster,"” and Lockley (Bonney), al- 1
though the latter (apparently mistekenly) inferé that Skinner

built his cabin in the spring of 1846 (p. 52). (See "Comments

for Teachers.")

Some historians of the 1800's, whose works werse consulted

. but are not listed in the bibliography, appeared to lack the

objective polnt of view to & considerable extent, notably
W. H. Gray, and, to a lesser extent, Hubert Howe Bancroft.
Likewise, most 6f the famlly accounts written largely as
personal records lacked, qulte naturally, evidence of a broad
perspective and impartial opinion.

Many incidents may be related in Trail records about
certain landmarks, and when one incident 1s to be mentioned
in such an account as this the question arises as to which
one 1t shall/be. In deseribing Independence Roeck, for instance,

the writer could have told of the first Masonle meeting in




Wyoming being held near its summit (Paden), of Indian attacks
on caravans there, and of many other happenings. Instead,
she included what is probably the most unusual -eplsode, one
which was described in only a single record to which she had
sccess. It could have been true; it adds an odd touch of
 humor, and, if true, that pile counter was a forerunner of our
present-day curb gervices! i
When we consider réminiscences about the early history
of Eugene we encounter differences of opinion on some topiles,

but they are at & minimum in thils account, due to the nature f

of the materisl included, which can be verified from many

sources, and to the fact that the people most directly involved
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in it are no longer living and therefore debatable toples are
limited. The location of Skinner's first home is & case 1n
point. There are two markers near the location at 2nd and i
Lincoln, buﬁ, according to E. F. Skinner II, the exact spot

was where a patch of rushes grew, near or possibly covered

now by the big sawdust pile which looms up in that block. Mrs.
Phoebe Kinsey (Eugene's sister) was asked where a marker should
g0 many yesers ago, and she, having been awsy from Eugane for
.some time, had forgotten the lay of the land, according to her
brother; and consequently the marker is in the wrong place.

He was not living here at the time either and d4id not know
about the mistake until much later.

It wes not until Mrs. Barette'!'s "Thumbpapers" was published
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in 1950 that the location of the first school, at the "Point

of the Hills" (Walling), was established quite definitely.
Mrs. Nellle Tyson, niece of the first teacher, Miss Sarsh Ann
Moore, accompanied Mrs. Barette to the spot 1n May, 1950,
pointing out the sunken plaece in the ground where the school
stobd. They measured the size and found it to be about twelve
by fourteen feet. Another sunken spot nearby marked the site
of the old well. | |

Reminiscences tend to lack accuracy, objectivity, and
conglstenecy, yet they are sometimes veslusble in helping estab-
lish certain facts, and they are usually quite Iinteresting.
They gilve & personal slant on inecidents of the times which is
unique. The reminiscences in Chapter XIII are included in
honor of the femilies théy represent, for the additional con-
temporary materiesl they contain, |

One other possible source of material should be mentioned--
"The Story of Eugene," written by the three Wilkins sisters,
Lucia Moore, Nina MeCornack, and Gladys McCready, and published
in 1949. This book was written at the request of the publish-
ing company, Stratford House, and represents a great deal of
work by the suthors. The latter do not c¢laim that 1t 1s a
history of Eugene; they were content to call i1t "The Story of
Eugene .

It was disappointing from the historien's ggint of view
that the book did not turn out to be the long-wished for
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historlical account of the founding and later development of
Eugene. It is more of a book of reminiscences. In such an
smbitious attempt to tell the whole story essential data are
often loat in the maze of literature and trivial material.

The frequent shifting from the past to the present tsnds to
confuse the reader. Inaoccuraclies ereep in here and,therei

for exsmple, on page 85 mentlon 13 made of Irena Dunn'‘a.
attending the firat school in 1853. According to Mrs. Irens
Dunn Willism's own "Reminiscences" i1t was her mother who
attende& the school in 1853. The location of ths school 1s
given as being on the Flelding McMurry donation claim, while
Mrs. Barette in "Thumpapers™ places its locatlion on the James
Breeding claim. As has been pointed out earlier, Mrs. Barette
visited the site in 1950 with & nisece of the first teacher,
who 1s herself a life-time resident of Eugene and who asserts
that the locatlion was at the south end of Harris Street, which
was part of the Breedling claim.

The fact that the three writers are descendants of a
local ploneer, that they have spent many years in Eugene and
knew many of the people about whom they wrote adds interest
to thelr story, but 1t also increased the difficultles of
maintalning objective and impartial points of view about sub-
Jects which are very close to them.

‘

Onces the data were assembled, the task of the writer was
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to organize them into a cradible, interesting, and valld account
of the Skinner-Bristow party's journey from Missourl to Oregon
and of the founding of Eugene, suitable to seventh grade read-
Ing and interest levels. This thesls is offered as the culmina-
tion of her efforts.

The exact data about fhe trlp to Oregon being scarce, it
was necessary to supplement data of a general historical nature
in meny instances, as has been noted, and this was done with
careful consideration. The essential facts are supported by
evidence, which, while appearing in i1tself seemingly inconse-
quential, still serves to eatablish the validity of the account.
There appears to have been no reason, for instance, why Bonney,
in his "Recolleections,” or Sutter, in his "New Helvetia Diary,"
would have referred to the Skinners and Bristow as they did 1if
the events they mentioned had not actually happened. Until
further evidence, not avallable to the writer during her re-

search, 1s unearthed she offers thlis account as beilng an essen-

tially true and usable one.




